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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“"GEM") OF
THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents
of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy
or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in
reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose
of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief
the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the "Board”) of directors (the
“Director(s)”) of Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited
(the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual results
of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

OVERVIEW

This year was another challenging and complex year to
the Group. The competition from other contractors was
still tremendous, which compounded by the continuous
increase in contract cost, resulting with a huge pressure
to the Group's design and fitting out services. On the other
hand, the Group has completed the acquisition of a company
with licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance during the year.
Despite the Group has not yet commenced the securities
business and is now in formulation of the business plan for
the securities business, the Board believes the expansion
of business segments will bring the Group to a new chapter
which will further foster the development of the Group into a
successful conglomerate.

During the year, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately HK$33.1 million, representing a 39.3%
decrement as compared with that for the year ended 31
March 2017 of approximately HK$54.5 million. The Group
recorded a loss of approximately HK$28.1 million or HK7.74
cents per share. The loss for the year was mainly due to (i)
increase in the staff costs due to the increase in number of
staff during the year and incentive payments to the staff in
order to retain the existing staff for their future contribution
to the Group; (ii) increase in impairment of account
receivables and (iii) incidental costs relating to the acquisition
of a subsidiary with licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9
regulated activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on its core
business and effectively utilise its available resources to further
engage in its current business sectors. Besides the current
business, the Group will continue to explore new business and
investment opportunities so as to further diversify the principal
activities of the Group and broaden its revenue base.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
towards the support and advice of our shareholders and
business partners, for their recognition of the Company’s
direction and strategies of development, as well as the
devotion and enthusiasm of our staff in all scopes of tasks.
They all helped us to drive the Company towards perfection.
We, the Board and all the Company’s staff, will continue to
dedicate ourselves to refine our services to maximise the
returns from shareholders.

Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally
engaged in (i) provision of design and fitting-out services,
(i) provision of design and procurement of furnishings and
decorative materials services, (iii) money lending, and (iv)
sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines. During
the year, the Group has completed the acquisition of a
company with licence to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The
Group has not yet commenced and is now in formulation of
the business plan for the securities business.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue is mainly generated from (i) contracts
to provide design and fitting out services; (i) design and
procurement of furnishings and decorative materials
services; (iii) money lending, and (iv) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines.

Breakdown of revenue by type of business is as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Breakdown of revenue by geographical locations is as
follows:

BEERENWE DT
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For the year
ended 31 March
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2018 2017
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HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TAT

Hong Kong BB 33,097 54,524

The total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2018 was
approximately HK$33.1 million (2017: HK$54.5 million) which
represents a HK$21.4 million or 39.3% decrease as compared
to the corresponding period of last year. Such decrease was
mainly attributable to the substantial decrease in the number
of large design and fitting-out projects engaged. During
the year ended 31 March 2018, there were contributions
of approximately HK$4.5 million (2017: HK$1.7 million) and
HK$13.8 million (2017: HK$1.7 million) from money lending
and sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines,
respectively, which were businesses newly engaged and
expanded by the Group during the second and third quarters
of last year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

Gross profit/(loss) for the year

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group recorded a
gross profit of approximately HK$3.4 million (2017: gross loss
of HK$9.9 million) and the overall gross profit margin was
approximately 10.3% (2017: gross loss margin of 18.2%).

Gross profit/(loss) and gross profit/(loss) margin by types of

business is as follows:

m

Gross profit/(loss)
for the year ended
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Money lending WE 4,495 1,715 100 100.0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the overall gross profit
of the Group amounting to approximately HK$3.4 million,
representing a turnaround from the overall gross loss of last
year of approximately HK$9.9 million. Such gross profit was
mainly attributable to (i) substantial reduction of net gross
loss from design and fitting-out services and design and
procurement of furnishings and decorative materials service;
(i) significant increase in interest income earned from the
money lending business since its commencement of business
in the second quarter of last year; and (iii) significant increase
in gross profit attributable from sourcing and merchandising
of fine and rare wines, a new business segment commenced
in the third quarter of last year.

Loss for the year

Administrative expenses increased by approximately
HK$8.9 million or approximately 34.5% from last year of
approximately HK$25.8 million to approximately HK$34.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2018. The increase in the
administrative expenses was mainly resulted from (i) increase
in the staff costs due to the increase in number of staff
during the year and incentive payments to the staff in order
to retain the existing staff for their future contribution to the
Group; (i) increase in impairment of account receivables and
(iii) incidental costs relating to the acquisition of a subsidiary
with licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Loss for the year ended 31 March 2018 was approximately
HK$28.1 million (2017: HK$35.0 million), representing
a decrease in loss of approximately HK$6.9 million or
approximately 19.8% as compared with last year. Such
decrease in loss was mainly attributable to the overall
improvement in the performance of the Group with a
turnaround gross profit and a gain of approximately HK$2.5
million from the increase in fair value of the investment
property.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Provision of (i) design and fitting-out services and (ii)
design and procurement of furnishings and decorative
materials services

For design and fitting-out services, the Group has a total
of 20 projects on hand during the year, of which 18 new
projects were contracted. The Group has completed 17
projects during the year. As a result, there were 3 design and
fitting-out services projects in progress as at 31 March 2018,
all of which are in Hong Kong.

For design and procurement of furnishings and decorative
materials services, the Group has a total of 7 projects
on hand during the year, all of which were new projects
contracted. The Group has completed 5 projects during the
year. As a result, there was 2 design and procurement of
furnishings and decorative materials services projects in
progress as at 31 March 2018, all of which are in Malaysia.

Looking forward, the Group expects the existing design
and fitting-out projects will be completed in the coming
few months. The Group has actively sought for business
opportunities by exploring for new customers and new
projects in order to strengthen its customer and revenue
base for maximization of the return to the shareholders
and the value of the Group. Subsequent to 31 March 2018,
the Group has successfully bid for 6 new projects and will
continue to submit tenders for potential projects in the
future.

Money lending business

The Group's money lending business was steadily
developed with new loans granted during the year. There
was loan portfolio in Hong Kong with principal amount
of approximately HK$23.5 million as at 31 March 2018.
The Group recognized an aggregate interest income of
approximately HK$4.5 million for the year while the money
lending business was commenced in the second quarter of
last year with aggregate interest income of approximately
HK$1.7 million.

The Group adopted a prudent risk management policy, with
the money lending business continuously carrying out regular
review of credit risk over the existing borrowers. While
the Group will proactively explore high creditworthiness
customers for further expansion of its business scale, it will
continue to adopt a prudent credit risk management strategy
to minimize its exposure and maintaining a sustainable and
healthy development in its money lending business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines
The Group’s sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare
wines (“Wines Merchandising”) has attributed a total revenue
of approximately HK$13.8 million during the year while the
Wines Merchandising business was commenced in the third
quarter of last year with total revenue of approximately
HK$1.7 million.

The Group experienced a staff turnover in the sales team of
the Wines Merchandising business during the third quarter of
the current year. The Group has undergone a re-assessment
of the development of the Wines Merchandising business
and foresees that there would be a decline in the Wines
Merchandising business in the coming year.

Securities business

The Group has completed the acquisition of a company with
licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated activities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance during the year. The
Group has not yet commenced and is now in formulation of
the business plan for the securities business.

Other business development

Besides the above business development, the Group is
proactively seeking for business opportunities and exploring
new investment opportunities in order to further diversify the
principal activities of the Group to strengthen and broaden its
revenue base. The Board believes the expansion of business
segments will bring the Group to a new chapter which will
further foster the development of the Group into a successful
conglomerate.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year, the Group financed its operations by its
internal resources and banking facilities. As at 31 March
2018, the Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$64.3 million (2017: HK$114.2 million), including bank
deposit, cash and bank balances of approximately HK$41.6
million (2017: HK$60.3 million).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 7.4 times as at 31 March 2018
(2017: 10.6 times). The decrease in the current ratio was
mainly attributable to (i) impairment and write-off of trade
receivables; (i) the settlement of the consideration payable
in the amount of HK$16.5 million and the incidental costs
payable upon completion of the acquisition of a subsidiary
during the year and (iii) operating loss incurred for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEREN WD

CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND GEARING

The capital of the Group comprises only ordinary shares. As
at 31 March 2018, the Company has 363,000,000 ordinary
shares in issue. There was no movement in the share capital
of the Group during the year. Total equity attributable
to owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$110.8 million as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$138.6
million).

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's borrowings comprised bank
borrowings of approximately HK$6.7 million (2017: HK$7.0
million) and obligation under a finance lease of approximately
HK$0.1 million (2017: HK$0.2 million). The Group’s gearing
ratio, calculated by dividing total borrowings by total equity,
was approximately 6.1% (2017: 5.2%). There was no material
fluctuation in the gearing ratio during the year ended 31
March 2018.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividends for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE
The operations of the Group are mainly conducted in Hong
Kong dollar ("HK$"), Singapore dollar (“SGD"), Renminbi
("RMB”) and United States dollar (“US$”) and its revenue,
expenses, assets, liabilities and borrowings are principally
denominated in HK$, SGD, RMB and US$.

The Group does not enter into any instruments on the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group will closely monitor exchange
rate movement and will take appropriate activities to reduce
the exchange risk.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 March 2018, an investment property and a motor
vehicle of the Group with carrying value of approximately
HK$25.0 million (2017: HK$22.5 million) and HK$0.1 million
(2017: HK$0.2 million) respectively and a bank deposit of
approximately HK$0.3 million (2017: HK$0.3 million) were
pledged to banks to secure for certain banking facilities of the
Group. Details of the pledged assets are set out in notes 17,
18 and 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Save as disclosed in notes 33 and 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, there has been no other significant
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries or assets of the
Group during the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have other significant
contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2018.

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments of the Group as at 31 March 2018
are set out in notes 36 and 40 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR D

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION

POLICIES

As at 31 March 2018, the Group employed 38 (2017: 35)
employees. The Group continues to maintain and upgrade
the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with
adequate and regular training. The Group remunerates its
Directors and employees mainly based on industry practices
and individual’s performance and experience. On top of
regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share options
may be granted to eligible staff by reference to the Group's
performance as well as individual’s performance.

Total remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2018
(including Directors’ emoluments and salaries to staff and
Directors including MPF contributions) was approximately
HK$16.9 million (2017: HK$12.7 million). Increase in the staff
costs was due to the increase in number of staff during the
year and incentive payments to the staff in order to retain the
existing staff for their future contribution to the Group.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number of
risks and uncertainties including business risks, operational
risks and financial management risks.

The key business and operations risk exposure by the Group
are summarized as follows:

(i)  Slow down of the economy and customer spending; and
(i) Fierce of market competition.

The financial risk management policies and practices of the
Group are shown in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to
those mentioned above which are not known to the Group
or which may not be material now but could turn out to be
material in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group has observed the sense of environmental
conservation. Various practices have been implemented to
encourage compliance with environmental legislation and
promote awareness towards environmental protection to the
employees. Further discussion of environmental policy and
performance can be found in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report set out on pages 36 to 54 of this annual
report.

The Group will review its environmental practices periodically
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group's businesses.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEEBEE

DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (“Mr. Chan”), aged 51, is an executive
Director and the chairman of the Company. He has joined
the Group since October 2015. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor
degree with honours in Business Administration and a master
of science degree with distinction in Corporate Governance
and Directorship. He is a fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. He is a practising certified
public accountant and has extensive experience in financial
management, corporate development, corporate finance and
corporate governance.

Mr. Chan is currently an executive director and the chief
executive officer of Noble Century Investment Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 2322) and an executive director of Great
Wall Belt & Road Holdings Limited (formerly known as e-Kong
Group Limited) (Stock code: 524). He is also an independent
non-executive director of Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited
(Stock code: 351), Media Asia Group Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 8075), New Times Energy Corporation Limited (Stock
code: 166), China Baoli Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 164), Leyou Technologies Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 1089) and Affluent Partners Holdings Limited (Stock
code: 1466). Mr. Chan was an executive director of South
East Group Limited (now known as China Minsheng Drawin
Technology Group Limited) (Stock code: 726) from December
2013 to July 2015 and Co-Prosperity Holdings Limited (now
known as Asia Television Holdings Limited) (Stock code:
707) from December 2014 to October 2015. He was also an
independent non-executive director of U-RIGHT International
Holdings Limited (now known as Fullsun International
Holdings Group Co., Limited) (Stock code: 627) from
November 2010 to December 2017 and Jun Yang Financial
Holding Limited (now known as Power Financial Group
Limited) (Stock code: 397) from January 2005 to October 2017.

Mr. Liu Rongsheng (“Mr. Liu"), aged 56, is an executive
Director and the chief executive officer of the Company. He
has joined the Group since October 2015. Mr. Liu completed
a professional programme in International Economics
and Trading from dbR#&EFMAHEERT (literally, Beijing
Economic Technology Institute), the People’s Republic of
China (the "PRC") in 1998. He also holds a qualification
as a senior economist in the PRC. Mr. Liu has extensive
experience in import and export trading, logistics, corporate
strategic management, project management and finance
business.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

Mr. Liu is currently an executive director, the chairman and
the chief executive officer of China Ocean Fishing Holdings
Limited (Stock code: 8047).

Mr. Wang Jun (“Mr. Wang"), aged 48, an executive
Director. He has joined the Group since February
2017. Mr. Wang completed a certificate programme in
General Education from BEAXZMEBER (literally,
Guangdong Suixi Education College), the PRC in 1988.
Mr. Wang completed a professional programme in
Business Administration from b6 BB 48 7 £ iy 1 18 2B
(Shanghai Institute of International Economic and Technical
Education) in the PRC and was awarded a bachelor degree
in management in 2010. He also holds a qualification
as qualified funds practitioner from Asset Management
Association of China. Mr. Wang has extensive experience
in real estate, corporate strategic management, project
management, investment business, and funds management.

Mr. ZHANG Weijie (“Mr. Zzhang"), aged 32, is an executive
Director. He has joined the Group since May 2018. Mr. Zhang
completed a course in Tsinghua Business Administration
and Innovation Executive Leadership programme from The
Research Institute of Tsinghua University in Shenzhen,
the PRC in 2013. He has gained extensive management
experience in financial leasing and investment business and
in securities investment in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Mr. Zhang was the chairman and an executive director of
Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited (stock code: 8148) from
October 2015 to March 2016.

Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong (“Mr. Tsang"), aged 40, was
appointed as a Director on 20 January 2014 and became
executive Director on 30 June 2014. Mr. Tsang was
re-designated as a non-executive Director on 22 December
2016. Mr. Tsang joined our Group in 2004 and has extensive
experience in the interior design and consultancy industry.
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Tsang worked at S.W. Law &
Associates Architects & Development Consultants Ltd, an
architectural company from July 1998 to July 2004 as project
coordinator responsible for assisting project architects to
deal with clients, contractors and consultants. Mr. Tsang
was awarded a Diploma in Electronics and Communications
Engineering by Kwun Tong Technical Institute in July
1997. Mr. Tsang graduated from a Master of Engineering
Management course offered by University of Technology,
Sydney in conjunction with the Hong Kong Management
Association in 2014.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEEBEE

Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (“Mr. A Chan"), aged 52, is
an independent non-executive Director since September
2015. Mr. A Chan is an associate member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales, and The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. Mr. A Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree (major in Finance) from Hong Kong
Baptist University and professional diplomas in Hong Kong tax
and China tax from the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has served in senior financial and company
secretarial positions in a number of public companies listed
in Hong Kong and Singapore for years.

Mr. A Chan is currently an independent non-executive
director of KK Culture Holdings Limited (Stock code: 550).
He was an independent non-executive director of Feishang
Non-metal Materials Technology Limited (Stock code: 8331)
from December 2015 to December 2017, Co-Prosperity
Holdings Limited (now known as Asia Television Holdings
Limited) (Stock code: 707) from March 2015 to October 2015
and e-Kong Group Limited (now known as Great Wall Belt &
Road Holdings Limited) (Stock code: 524) from February 2015
to May 2017.

Mr. Wu zZhao (“Mr. Wu"), aged 40, is an independent
non-executive Director since November 2015. Mr. Wu
obtained a bachelor degree in Engineering (Chemical) from
the University of Queensland, Australia. He also obtained
a master of commerce in applied finance and a master of
information technology from the University of Queensland,
Australia. He has extensive experience in finance,
information technology, investment and funds management.
He is currently a representative of a funds management
company and is also licensed to carry out Type 1 (Dealings
in Securities) and Type 4 (Advising on Securities) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Mr. Wu is currently an independent non-executive director
of Silk Road Logistics Holdings Limited (formerly known as
Loudong General Nice Resources (China) Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 988).
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Mr. Lam Cheok Va (“Mr. Lam”), aged 60, is an independent
non-executive Director since April 2016. Mr. Lam is a member
of the Standing Committee of Yunnan Province Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is
also the President of Macau Yunnan Chamber of Commerce,
the Director General of Macau Small and Medium Enterprises
Chamber of Commerce, a director of China Federation of
Overseas Entrepreneurs, a director of Macau Chamber of
commerce, an executive director of Macau Region China
Council for the Promotion of Peaceful National Reunification,
and a member of Advisory Board of School of Language
and Translation of Macau Polytechnic Institute. Mr. Lam has
extensive experience in business including entertainment,
food and beverage, retail, tourism and consulting.

Mr. Lam is currently a director of Macau Resources
Group Limited, of which its securities are traded on the
Over-The-Counter Market, the United States (OTCBB: MRGLF).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Lee Yuk Pui Kawina ("Ms. Lee"), aged 49, joined the
Group in 2006 and is the Operating Manager of the Group.
She currently holds directorship in certain subsidiaries
of the Group. Ms. Lee has extensive experience in the
interior design and construction industry, and in project
management.

Ms. Lee graduated from a Master of Engineering Management
course offered by University of Technology, Sydney in
conjunction with the Hong Kong Management Association in
2014 and completed the MBA (Executive) programme offered
by City University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton ("“Mr. Pang"), aged 49, is
the financial controller and the company secretary of
the Company. He currently holds directorship in certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Pang has extensive experience
in the field of accounting, auditing, business advisory services
and financial management. He has been engaged in the
senior financial and company secretarial position in listed
companies in Hong Kong since 2014.

Mr. Pang holds a Master of Professional Accounting degree
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a fellow
member of the Association of International Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased to
present this corporate governance report of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board considers that incorporating the elements of good
corporate governance in the management structures and
internal control procedures of the Group could balance the
interests of the shareholders, customers and employees
of the Company. The Board has adopted the principles and
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
(the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules (the
“GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) to ensure that business activities and
decision making processes are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner. In accordance with the requirements of
the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has established an
audit committee, a remuneration committee, a nomination
committee and a compliance committee with specific written
terms of reference. During the year ended 31 March 2018,
the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in
securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.

No Director has dealt in the shares of the Company during
the year.

Following specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors
confirmed that they have complied with such code of
conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2018.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition of the Board of Directors

Up to the date of this annual report, the Board currently
comprises four executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The
compositions of the Directors in office during the year and up
to the date of this annual report are set out in the “Report of
the Directors” in this annual report on pages 55 to 67.

Functions of the Board

The principal function of the Board is to consider and
approve the overall business plans and strategies of the
Group, develop and implement the corporate governance
function, monitor the implementation of these policies and
strategies and the management of the Company. The Group
has a professional management team, which is led by a
team of senior management with substantial experience and
expertise in the Group’s business and the Board delegates
the authority and responsibility for implementing the Group’s
policies and strategies.

During the year, the management provided all members of
the Board with monthly updates in accordance with the code
provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

Board Meetings and Board Practices

The Directors can attend meetings in person or through other
means of electronic communication in accordance with the
Company'’s articles of association. All minutes of the Board
meetings were recorded in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and the decisions reached.
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EXREBRRE

During the year, the Board held 10 Board meetings and 1
general meeting. Details of the attendance of Directors are as
follows:

RAFER EFGCLETIOREFEEINR
TRBRRAE - FEEFHHFEHBOT

Attendance/ Attendance/
Number of Number of
General Meeting Board Meeting
entitled to attend entitled to attend
HEXRE, B HEXE Gk
HE R AR HENEES

RERITRHE FEBITRE

Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Chairman) MRERELEE(XE) 1/1 10/10
Mr. Liu Rongsheng Rl ERE

(Chief Executive Officer) (7TICAEEE) 1/1 10/10
Mr. Wang Jun FELEAE 171 10/10
Mr. Zhang Weijie REMNTE

(appointed on 7 May 2018) (R=Z—N\FRALHZMT) 0/0 0/0
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong B4 11 10/10
Independent non-executive Directors B EHTES
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BR &1L 58 A 1/1 10/10
Mr. Wu Zhao RIKFE 1/1 10/10
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t 4 1/1 10/10

Directors’ Appointment, Re-election and Removal

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, each of
the executive Directors, the non-executive Director and
independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service contract or letter of appointment with the Company
for an initial term of two or three years and such term shall
be governed by the articles of association and/or other
relevant regulatory requirements unless terminated by either
party giving at least three months’ notice in writing.
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In compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the CG
Code, all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should
be subject to election by shareholders at the first general
meeting after appointment. By virtue of article 113 of the
articles of association of the Company, the Board may
appoint any person as an additional Director or to fill a casual
vacancy, provided that any person so appointed shall hold
office only until the conclusion of the next following general
meeting of the Company (in the case of filling a casual
vacancy) or until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company (in the case of an addition to the Board), and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In addition, every director should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. Furthermore,
pursuant to article 141 of the articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting of the Company,
one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation but shall be eligible for re-election. Where
the number of Directors is not three or a number divisible by
three, the number of Directors to retire will be the number
which is nearest to but not less than one-third of the total
number of Directors. If there are less than three Directors,
they shall all retire. The Directors to retire by rotation will be
those Directors who have been Directors longest in office
since they were last elected, or appointed by the Members
(as the case may be). Every retiring Director shall be eligible
for re-election.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has three independent non-executive
Directors to comply with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules.
Furthermore, among the three independent non-executive
Directors, Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required by Rule 5.05(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules. In accordance to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules, the Company has received from each
of its independent non-executive Directors the written
confirmation of his independence. The Company, based on
such confirmation, considers Mr. Chan, Mr. Wu and Mr. Lam
to be independent.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. During the year, the role of the Chairman was
performed by Mr. Chan Chi Yuen and the office of the chief
executive officer of the Company was performed by Mr. Liu
Rongsheng. The code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code has
been complied with.
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Delegation of Powers

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to
executive Directors and management of the Company with
department heads responsible for different aspects of the
business/functions, while reserving certain key matters in
making strategic decision for its approval. When the Board
delegates aspects of its management and administration
functions to management, it gives clear directions as to the
powers of management, in particular, with respect to the
circumstances where management need to report back and
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions
or entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

Continuing Professional Development

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code,
all directors shall participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills to ensure their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. The Company would arrange and/or
introduce some Director’s training courses for the Directors
to develop and explore their knowledge and skills.

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of his
appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities
and obligations under the GEM Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually
updated on the legal and regulatory developments, as well as
business and market changes, to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities.

All Directors during the reporting period have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills through suitable trainings.
The participation in such trainings is to ensure that their
contributions to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities
The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
covering the liabilities in respect of legal action against
the Directors that may arise out in the corporate activities
which has been complied with the CG Code. The insurance
coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
was established by the Board on 30 June 2014 with written
terms of reference which were further revised on 14
December 2015 in compliance with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the
GEM Listing Rules and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Chan Chiu
Hung Alex. The other members are Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam
Cheok Va. The primary duties of the Audit Committee include
the review of the Group's financial reporting process and the
internal control systems as well as risk management of the
Group.

The Audit Committee had reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed financial matters, including a review of the
audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2018.

6 Audit Committee meetings were held during the year.
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Details of the attendance of members of the Audit Committee EBe@XKEBHFEEHZFIBHOT ¢
meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Members RE IR 8
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) BREVESCE (FE) 6/6
Mr. Wu Zhao RIKFE 6/6
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va’t & 5/6

The following is a summary of work performed by the Audit
committee during the year:

(@) reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2017,

(b) reviewed the unaudited financial statements for three
months ended 30 June 2017, six months ended 30
September 2017 and nine months ended 31 December
2017;

(c) reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s financial
controls, internal control and risk management systems;

(d) reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and
practices, and financial reporting matters;
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(e) approved the remuneration and the appointment and
the terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

(f)  reviewed the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of audit process in
accordance with applicable standards.

In the meeting of the Audit Committee of June 2018, the
Audit Committee reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group, the financial statements and
other reports for the year ended 31 March 2018 and discuss
any significant audit matters with the Company’s external
auditor and the senior management before recommending
them to the Board for consideration and approval. The
Audit Committee recommended the Board in relation to the
re-appointment of Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited
as the Company’s external auditor for the financial year
ending 31 March 2019 at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established by the Board on
30 June 2014 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors and
is chaired by Mr. Lam Cheok Va. The other members are
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex and Mr. Wu Zhao. The primary
duties of the remuneration committee are to review and
recommend the terms of remuneration packages, bonuses
and other compensation payable to the Directors and the
senior management personnel of the Group, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their office or appointment.
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2 Remuneration Committee meetings were held during RAERER Mlé,\@%"& 2R EE 0 AEM
the year to review the remuneration packages of all %ﬁ§§$z i B 5 FMEZBEEKEBLER
Directors. Details of the attendance of the members of the @z ZZFEBEWOT -
Remuneration Committee meeting are as follows:

Attendance
Members 24- H IR E
Mr. Lam Cheok Va (Chairman) Lam Cheok Vast &£ (£ /&) 2/2
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BeR 1) 3L 5 A= 2/2
Mr. Wu Zhao Rk A4 2/2
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Remuneration Policy for Directors and Senior
Management

The remuneration payable to the employees includes
salaries and allowances. The Group’s remuneration policies
are formulated based on the performance of individual
employees and are reviewed regularly. Subject to the Group’s
profitability, the Group may also provide a discretionary
bonus to employees as an incentive for their contribution
to the Group. The primary goal of the remuneration policy
with regard to the remuneration package of the executive
Directors is to enable the Group to retain and motivate
the executive Directors by linking their compensation with
performance as measured against corporate objectives
achieved. The executive Directors are entitled to the
remuneration packages including basic salaries and
discretionary bonuses.

The share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted by sole Shareholder by way
of written resolution on 30 June 2014. The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions
of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the
Share Option Scheme is to provide (i) employees of the
Group (whether full-time or part-time); (ii) directors (including
executive directors, non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors (where applicable)) of the Group; (iii)
substantial shareholders of each member of the Group and
(iv) associates of directors or substantial shareholders of the
Group of which includes any of the abovementioned persons
(together, the “Participants” and each, a “Participant”) with
an opportunity to obtain an equity interest in the Company,
thus linking their interest with the interests of the Group and
thereby providing them with an incentive to work better for
the interests of the Group.

The Company believes that by offering the Participants a
shareholding stake in the Company, the interests of the
Participants and the Company become aligning and thereby
the Participants have additional incentives to improve the
Company’s performance.

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details
of the annual remuneration of the members of the senior
management by band for the year ended 31 March 2018 are
as follows:
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Individuals
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Nil to HK$1,000,000 0 - 1,000,000/ 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 — 3,000,000/ 7T 1
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Nomination Committee

The Board is empowered under the Company’s articles of
association to appoint any person as a director either to
fill a casual vacancy on or, as an additional member of the
Board. Qualified candidates will be proposed to the Board
for consideration and the selection criteria are mainly based
on the assessment of their professional qualifications and
experience. The Board selects and recommends candidates
for directorship to the shareholders having regards to the
balance of skills and experience appropriate to the Group'’s
business.

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors and is chaired by
Mr. Wu Zhao. The other members are Mr. Chan Chiu Hung
Alex and Mr. Lam Cheok Va. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to the
Board regarding the candidates for directorship, either to fill
vacancies on or appoint additional Directors, and succession
planning for Directors, in particular, the chairman and the
chief executive of the Company.

1 Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year
to review the appointment of all Directors. Details of the
attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee
meeting are as follows:
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Attendance
Members K& H R E
Mr. Wu Zhao (Chairman) RIKEHE (£ E) 171
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex BR 414k %2 A= Al
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va%t 4 11



Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (=12 & Rz A R A &

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board Diversity Policy

During the year, the Nomination Committee formulated the
board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board Diversity
Policy”). The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality
of its performance. In designing the Board’'s composition,
the Nomination Committee will consider a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity
Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend
any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

The Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation
of the Board Diversity Policy and reports to the Board on
the achievement of the measurable objectives for achieving
diversity under the Board Diversity Policy.

Compliance Committee

The compliance committee of the Company (the “Compliance
Committee”) was established by the Board on 30 June 2014
with written terms of reference. The Compliance Committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive
Directors and is chaired by Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex. The
other members are Mr. Wu Zhao and Mr. Lam Cheok Va.
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The primary duties of the Compliance Committee are to
review matters relating to the historical conduct of the
operations of the Group with a view to (i) understand the
relevant legal compliance obligations; (ii) recommend
procedures and protocols for implementation and/or
inclusion into the policies of the Group for regulation of
our recent or future operations to ensure compliance with
all applicable laws, rules and regulations, and to review
such policies from time to time to consider whether any
amendments or updates are necessary and to make
recommendations to the Board for amendment and adoption
as appropriate, and (iii) review the effectiveness of and
compliance by the Group with the policies implemented by
the Group and to recommend remedial actions to be taken
(if any) in the event any non-compliance is discovered.
Any incident of non-compliance will be reported to our
compliance committee. Meetings will be held on a monthly
basis or as and when necessary to perform the functions set
out above. For effective monitoring, external independent
professionals will be engaged to conduct reviews of
our internal control system and its implementation and
effectiveness on an annual basis, and if considered necessary
by compliance committee, at frequency as it considered
appropriate.

1 Compliance Committee meeting was held during the year.
Details of the attendance of the members of the Compliance
Committee meeting are as follows:
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Attendance
Members RE IR 8
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex (Chairman) BREVE & (F/) 1”1
Mr. Wu Zhao RIKEE 1/1
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Va4t 4 1/1

Corporate Governance Functions

According to code provision D.3 of the CG Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
of the Company. The Board shall have the following duties
and responsibilities for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company:

1.  to develop and review the policies and practices
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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3.  to review and monitor the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4.  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
company.

Accountability and Audit

Directors’ and Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

All Directors acknowledges their responsibility to prepare
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for each
financial period to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flows for that
period. In preparing the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018, the Board has selected
suitable accounting policies and applied them consistently,
made judgments and estimates that are prudent, fair
and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Directors are
responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps
to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report. The Directors continue to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the consolidated financial statements
and are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid or payable to the
Company’s auditors, Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA
Limited, in respect of their audit and non-audit services was
as follows:

BT B =

BEAFE RERLFECRFC A XE
AR BB % = BB (B8 ) ST
EHAARRBINMEMT

HK$
Members KE BT
Audit service ENZ RS 550,000
Non-audit services IEEZRGE -
Total et 550,000

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring
the risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and for reviewing its effectiveness, is committed
to implement an effective and sound risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the assets of the Group.

The Board is responsible for establishing the Group’s internal
control framework, covering all material controls including
financial, operational and compliance controls, as well as
risk management functions of different systems. Review
has been carried out in a systematic approach based on the
risk assessments of the operations and controls. The Board
considers that the key areas of the Group's internal control
systems are reasonably implemented.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review, via an appointed
professional firm to perform internal audit function, on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational and risk
management aspects. The systems were considered effective
and adequate.

The Group adopts a complete process style of risk
management in a functional bottom up manner, including
risk identification, assessment, evaluation and treatment. The
functional areas across the Group provide input of risks with
treatments, which are appraised and maintained. The risk
management system, as well as the internal control system,
are continuous, proactive and systematic processes.

With the implementation of internal audit function,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems is reviewed by conducting internal audit
assignments. Recommendations for major observations of
control weaknesses from the audits will be provided, so as to
resolve material internal control defects.
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INVESTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS
RELATIONS

The Company values communication with the shareholders
and investors. The Company uses two-way communication
channels to account to shareholders and investors for the
performance of the Company. Enquiries and suggestions
from shareholders or investors are welcomed, and enquiries
from shareholders may be put to the Board through the
following channels to the executive Director:

1. By mail to the Company’s principal place of business at
Suite 2201, 22/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong;

2. By email to info@royalcentury.hk.

The Company uses a number of formal communications
channel to account to shareholders and investors for
the performance of the Company. These include (i) the
publication of quarterly, interim and annual reports; (ii) the
annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting
providing a forum for shareholders to raise comments
and exchanging views with the Board, (iii) updated key
information of the Group available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company, (iv) the Company’s
website offering communication channel between the
Company and its shareholders and investors; and (v) the
Company’s share registrars in Hong Kong serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters.

The Company aims to provide its shareholders and investors
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency.
The Board is committed to provide clear, detailed, timely
manner and on a regular basis information of the Group to
shareholders through the publication of quarterly, interim
and annual reports and/or dispatching circulars, notices, and
other announcements.

The Company strives to take into consideration its
shareholders’ views and inputs, and address shareholders’
concerns. Shareholders are encouraged to attend the
annual general meeting for which at least 20 clear
business days’ notice shall be given. The chairman of the
Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Compliance Committee, or in their absence, the
Directors are available to answer shareholders’ questions
on the Group’s businesses at the meeting. To comply with
code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the management will
ensure the external auditor to attend the annual general
meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the audit,
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.
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All shareholders have statutory rights to call for extraordinary
general meetings and put forward agenda items for
consideration by shareholders. According to section 566 of
the Companies Ordinance, The directors are required to call
a general meeting if the company has received requests to
do so from members of the company representing at least
5% of the total voting rights of all the members having a
right to vote at general meetings. A request (a) must state
the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the
meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution that
may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the
meeting.

A shareholder may propose a person other than a retiring
director or recommended by the board of directors for
election as a director by validly lodging the following
documents within the period hereinafter mentioned at the
registered office of the Company at Suite 2201, 22/F., China
Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong:

1. a notice in writing of the intention to propose the
appointment or reappointment of such person to the
office of director, which must state the full name of
such person, include the person’s biographical details
as required by rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing Rules and
be signed by the proposing shareholder; and

2. a notice in writing signed by such person of his
willingness to be appointed or re-appointed as a
director together with his written consent to the
publication of his/her personal data.

Such documents shall be lodged at the registered office of
the Company within the period of seven (7) days after the
dispatch of the notice of the general meeting. Upon receipt
of such documents, the Company shall verify the documents
and, if the proposal is found to be in order, publish an
announcement or issue a supplementary circular in respect
of the proposal in accordance with rule 17.46B of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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In the event of any general meeting called by at least ten (10)
clear business days’ (as defined by the GEM Listing Rules)
or fourteen (14) days’ (whichever is the longer) notice in
writing, such documents lodged within the aforesaid period
may be received less than ten (10) business days prior to the
general meeting, in which case the Company will consider
the adjournment of the general meeting in order to give
shareholders at least ten (10) business days to consider
the relevant information disclosed in the announcement or
supplementary circular.

In order to promote effective communication, the Company
also maintains website (http://www.royalcentury.hk) which
includes the latest information relating to the Group and its
businesses.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Pang Pui Hung Paton is the company secretary of the
Company. During the year, Mr. Pang has duly complied with
relevant professional training requirements in accordance
with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

We are pleased to present our annual Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG") report (“ESG Report”) for
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (“the Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, “the Group”). This ESG Report
discloses the Group’s policies, guidelines, actions and
performance over the past year on different sustainable
development issues in a transparent manner. The Group
recognises the environmental, social and governance values
and it is our commitments to create sustainable values and
environmental protection through caring of our stakeholders.

This ESG Report covers the reporting period from 1 April 2017
to 31 March 2018 (the “Reporting Period”) and it has been
prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the “Guide”) in Appendix 20
of the Rules (the “"GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing
of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG Reporting Guide
encourages a listing company to identify and disclose ESG
information that is material and relevant to both its business
and its stakeholders.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of design and
fitting-out services, (i) provision of design and procurement
of furnishings and decorative materials services, (iii) money
lending and (iv) sourcing and merchandising of fine and
rare wines. Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report covers
our operations mainly in Hong Kong which has contributed
almost our Group’s entire turnover in the Reporting Period.

Identifying Priorities and Balances in Our Value
Creation Process

We hope to enhance communication with stakeholders
through this report. To start with the value creation
process on sustainable development, the stakeholders’
participation is critical to assess the priorities. Then through
a variety of communication channels, we get in touch
with important stakeholders for better understanding of
their expectations. As a result, we not only can identify
opportunities and challenges, and develop our business
development strategies, but also can improve our corporate
social responsibilities that are considered as the continuing
commitment by the Company to behave ethically and to
contribute to economic development, and at the same time
to improve the quality of life of our employees and their
families as well as of the local community and society at
large.
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For the Reporting Period, we have identified key stakeholders
and have communicated with them in different ways, such as
physical meetings, email, mail, telephone, interview, lecture
etc.

One of the key outcomes we expect from the stakeholders
engagement process is materiality assessment where the
views of what are important to business (in particular for
internal stakeholders) and what are important to stakeholders
(the external stakeholders), are identified through plotting
on a matrix of relevance and importance. This matrix forms
a basis for our decision process to prioritise the focuses
for long term planning, disclosure, policy enhancement and
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Key Stakeholders

Internal stakeholders
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TERHEA

RE - HERERRS
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External stakeholders

ShERRERE A

e Board of Directors

o« EEF

e Shareholders and Investors
o WHERIKESH

e Management

o EIRE

o Staff representatives
e BIMRE

e (Customers

o XF

e Subcontractors
e NEMH

e Suppliers
o fHER

o TREMERE

e Government/re
. W

o AipitlmE e

e Media
o {H

e Financial Institutions

EEHE

e Local Community groups

gulatory authorities

enforcement of relevant practices.
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o MEESA (BEFg EEE 8IRER)

Stakeholder  ERSSIEYNIEORE =
engagement HE - EH)

e External stakehoders (Customers, subcontractors, suppliers, financial
institutions, government/regulatory authorities, community, media)

* Internal stakeholders (Board of Directors, management, staff, shareholders)
CHER - HER  SEEE BT BERE

A2 E

BRTREREE  REARERESE
Materiality
assessment

Through completion of a matrix for relevance and importance

ZERF(

Medium and long term strategic planning
HHEI R REARER IR TE
Resources allocation

BRNE

Strategic
planning

|
|

RESVERT S

Policy enhancement
BURSE

Enforce practices
BHBT

ESG disclosures
ESGH:E

Our businesses have impacts on our key stakeholders,
and on the other hand our stakeholders also have
different expectations over the Group. Going forward, we
shall continuously strengthen communication with our
stakeholders, and collect their opinions and expectations
extensively by various means. We shall also reinforce the
reporting principles as proposed in the ESG Reporting Guide
for materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, in
order to incorporate more relevant contents in the report
and to present information in a way that can meet better the
expectation of our stakeholders.

Stakeholders’ Feedback

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on our
environmental, social and governance approach and
performance. Please share your views with us via email at
info@royalcentury.hk.
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OUR TALENTS

Employment

Our talents are one of the most important assets of the
Group and the foundation for the success of the Group. We
value our talents and strive to create an environment in
which their individual contribution to the Group’s success is
encouraged, recognised and rewarded. We offer competitive
salary package with benefits and welfare to recruit and retain
talented people on the basis of their individual qualifications,
working experience and performance. Our annual
performance review is important to evaluate the performance
of the staff and to fairly reward our staff.

The Group is also committed to being an employer of equal
opportunity. Staff with the appropriate skills, qualifications,
experiences and competencies required for a particular
position will have equal opportunities of being considered for
the position. We do not discriminate people on the basis of
race, nationality, ethnic origin, religion, sex, or marital status.
Equal opportunity for our staff to have appropriate training
and development based on identified business and individual
needs.

The Group strictly complies with the laws, regulations,
rules and standards in Hong Kong and Mainland China
on employment. Our policies related to the recruitment
and promotion, development and training, working hours,
rest periods, other benefits and welfare, compensation
and dismissal, equal opportunities, diversity and
anti-discrimination, are set out in the staff handbook.
The handbook is distributed to our staff for them to get
familiarised with the rules and policies in their work place.

We also emphasis to create a harmonious working
environment in the working place for our talents. Social
functions are organised to enhance the communications and
relationships between our talents and to promote loyalty of
our talents, so as to get positive effect on the sustainable
development of the Group. During the Reporting Period,
we organised festive lunch and parties for Christmas and
Mid-Autumn Festival. Annual dinners of the Group and
subsidiary were also held for social gathering of our staff and
other parties.
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As at the end of financial year, the Group had 34 (2017: 27)
staff in Hong Kong and 4 (2017: 8) staff in Mainland China.
In the current year, there was no non-compliance incidents
in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare
of any employment that have a significant impact on the
Group.

Staff Training and Self-development

Nurturing and retaining our talents is paramount to
strengthening of our competitiveness, laying further for the
sustainable development and the ultimate success of the
Group. We understand that enhancing career development
of our talents in the Group is important to foster their loyalty.
Continuous acquisition and upgrading of the staff's skills and
proficiencies are essential to the next step in their career
path. We believe that trainings and development can improve
our talents’ work performance and provide them promotion
opportunities within the Group.

The Group encourages our staff to take vocational training
and business related training courses and we have policies of
sponsoring course fee and other reasonable expenses, such
as registration fee, on satisfactory completion of the courses.
Sponsorship applies to professional courses, seminars,
workshops or conference recommended or approved by the
Group.

We also convene comprehensive internal training
programmes, in the form of seminars, meetings and written
manuals, etc. to increase our staff's knowledge of operational
and safety practices and to provide training based on specific
job requirements.

During the Reporting Period, we arranged our staff to join
seminars related to anti-money laundering to enhance
their relevant knowledge and information on the latest
development of the regulatory requirements. Our accounting
staff also attended seminars on the Group’s accounting
system trainings to improve proficiency in using the
accounting software. In addition, we sponsored 80% of the
course fee after the staff had completed the Advanced
Diploma in Business Management Programme.
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Caring the Health and Safety of our Talents

The safety of our staff in workplace is the first priority of
our business. We are committed to providing a safe and
healthy working environment for the benefit of our staff,
subcontractors and the general public.

For our work sites in Hong Kong, we fully comply with the
Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance. We require
strict implementation of our safety management system in
the work sites to ensure safety and health of our staff and the
self-employed. We have employed qualified safety supervisor
approved by the Hong Kong Labour Department to monitor
and implement the safety management system in our work
sites. Our safety supervisor is responsible for promoting
safety and health to workers, assisting and supervising the
workers to understand and observe the rules and regulations
relating to safety and construction works in Hong Kong.
The safety supervisor also observes working conditions,
equipment and worker behaviours to identify safety problems
and takes corrective actions.

In order to pursue the safety and health of our staff
and workers in work sites, we publish health and safety
policies and procedures at work sites and distribute safety
handbooks. Construction site rules are also posted at
prominent places to remind workers for the safety. Safety
inspections are conducted at work sites to ensure our
construction works are conducted properly to reduce the
risks to persons and properties. Our subcontractors are
required to abide all safety laws, rules, regulations, measures
and procedures as well as all safety requirements to comply
with all current enactments relating to their works. The Group
will continue to put adequate resources and efforts to uphold
and improve our safety management system in order to
reduce our risks related to safety issues.

The Group is also committed to provide safe working
environment to our staff in our offices in Hong Kong and
Mainland China. We comply with the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong and relevant laws
and regulations in Mainland China. Safe work policies and
procedures are implemented to protect our staff from injury
at work places. Smoking is prohibited in our workplaces.
Regular office cleaning is carried out to maintain offices
hygiene to reduce disease transmission. Our staff required to
participate in emergency and fire drill. In this financial year,
the Group arranged our staff in Hong Kong headquarter to
attend fire drill to get familiar with the fire escape route of
the building and to increase emergency preparedness.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with
the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and Mainland
China and no major accidents involving death or injuries had
occurred.

Observe Labour Standards

We recognise that child labour and forced labour violate
fundamental human rights and the protocol of international
labour conventions, and we agree they pose a threat to
sustainable social and economic development. Therefore we
strictly abide the Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong, and
the Labour Law and Labour Contract Law in China on this
issue.

The Group prohibits employment of child labour and will carry
out examination of the applicant’s age during the recruitment
stage. We would strictly follow the employment contracts and
would not prejudice the employment relationship in any way
between the employees and the Group, such as detaining
a deposit, forcing to work against their will under any kind
of threat. Employees have the right to terminate their
employment contracts as long as it is in compliance with the
relevant laws and the Group policies. During the Reporting
Period, the Group has not experienced any case of child
labour and forced labour.

OUR ENVIRONMENT
Environmental Protection

The Group is aware of the importance of environmental
protection that is essential for the sustainable development
of the environment and our business. To avoid adverse
impact and damage to our environment and the communities
in which we operate our business, we formulate policies
and procedures to enhance resources efficiency, reduce
emissions and resources consumption, and use natural
resources properly. We also enhance our staff's awareness
of environmental protection and increase their involvement in
operating an eco-friendly working environment.
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Emissions Management

The Group recognises that our design and fitting-out works
business has an inevitable impact on the environment. We
strive to minimise the adverse impact to our environment.
Our operations are subject to certain laws and regulations
related to environmental protection in Hong Kong, such as
Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Noise Control Ordinance and
Waste Disposal Ordinance. We are committed to complying
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and have obtained all the required permits and
approvals where applicable for our construction projects.
As most of our design and fitting-out works are carried out
by our subcontractors and are supervised by our project
managers, we have stringent controls to ensure that our
subcontractors fully comply with the relevant environment
laws and regulation.

In our work sites, we require our staff and subcontractors to
take measures to reduce the impacts to our environment.
For examples, low-dust techniques and equipment are
used to cut down construction dusts. All equipment used
has to comply with the permitted noise level. Inspection
and maintenance of the equipment are taken before use to
maintain equipment in good condition. Construction works
are also undertaken in accordance with the permitted work
hours as specified by Noise Control Ordinance. Wastes are
segregated into general wastes and construction wastes
before transporting to site rubbish collection point. In the
Reporting Period, we did not aware of any non-compliance of
the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong.

As the Group engages subcontractors to carry out the
construction work, our design and fitting-out business
does not directly produce air pollutants, greenhouse gas
and hazardous waste in the work sites. The Group’s other
business segments, such as money lending and wine
merchandising, are office-based operations and do not
have significant impact to the environment. The emissions
from our Group are mainly derived from the usage of motor
vehicles and consumption of electricity for office use in Hong
Kong.
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Air emissions and Greenhouse gas (“GHG")
emissions

The usage of the Group’s motor vehicles for our employees
to travel among the work sites is the source of direct air
emissions for the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
Group generated 14.5 kg of nitrogen oxides (NOx), 0.3 kg of
sulphur oxides (SOx) and 1.1 kg of particulate matter (PM).

The GHG emissions of the Group are mainly come from
electricity consumption for our office use and fuel
consumption of the Group’s motor vehicles. In the Reporting
Period, the Group's total GHG emissions amounted to 99.4
tonnes and the total GHG emissions per staff was 2.7 tonnes.
Detailed summary of the GHG emissions of our Group is
shown as below:

ZREBMEBRERE ([GHG]) HE

BETFAAEEAEETH  HAETFRELASE
ENEZEEZRERYRIR - RBEHA - K
SBEEEL14STRRAEAWINOX » 0.3F R
EEM(SOX)H1.1F 572 FERL HI(PM) o

REERGHGHEMEZRBEB MM AEHHNA
BRAEEREMNREERE RBEHA -
AEEKGHGHRBEIR E A99.41F - B T A
GHGHE IR = A2.7W8 o K £ BGHGHE I HY 5 48
MBI

2018
KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS tonnes CO2-e
—E-N\F
7 iR (44774
FTERREE-RERBHERK e
Scope 1: direct emissions from vehicle fuel consumption 52.5
#HE1:  REREDERENEETN
Scope 2: indirect emissions from purchased electricity 40.9
#E2: FEEENNMEER
Scope 3: other indirect emissions from paper waste and business travel by air 6.0
#EI:  AUREEY) KR S = IR e H A R R
Total GHG Emissions 99.4
GHG#EHE 2
GHG Intensity — total GHG emissions/average no. of staff (tonnes CO2-e/staff) 2.7

GHGEE- GHGAaHEME B T T AB (M-S tmBinE B1)

Electricity and fuel consumptions are the main sources of
our Group's air emissions and GHG emissions. To achieve
the goal for reducing the emissions from our business
operations, we have set out policies to improve the efficiency
on the use of energy and to reduce energy consumptions.

BN RREERE RSB/ = R RY MR
EREBHBNIERR - BTERBDER
LEMELHBMNER  RARITTRES
BETR A A R R K PR AR BEJROB FE RO R



Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (=12 & Rz A R A &

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

For the Group’s motor vehicles, less polluting gasoline is
selected to reduce emissions of air pollutants emissions.
Proper and regular maintenance is carried out for our
vehicles to avoid excess emissions as well as to increase
the efficiency of fuel. We monitor the fuel consumption and
mileage usage of the vehicles to control the use of gasoline.
Our staff are encouraged to take public transportation to
the work sites and also for visiting suppliers in Mainland
China. They are also recommended to organise car pools for
transportation to visit nearby suppliers in Mainland China.

Electricity is another major source of our GHG emissions.
Therefore, we are committed to establishing a culture of
energy saving in our workplaces. We require our staff to
take up the responsibility of reducing energy consumption
by switching off all computers, lighting, air conditioners
and equipment after office hour. During the office hour,
our employees are encouraged to switch off lighting and
electronic equipment not in use. In day time, natural light
is recommended as much as possible. Computers are set
as sleep mode when not in use. Air conditioners are set at
reasonable temperature for efficient use of energy.

Waste management

As the Group's design and fitting-out works are carried out by
our subcontractors, and in view of the nature of the Group’s
other business segments, we did not generate hazardous
waste directly during the Reporting Period. We strictly require
our subcontractors to comply with the relevant laws in Hong
Kong for the disposal of wastes.

The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group's
workplaces mainly consist of paper and other office
supplies. In the current year, the Group produced 4.4 tons
of non-hazardous wastes and 0.1 tons per staff. To reduce
wastes generated from our workplaces, less paper policy
is imposed. Double sided printing is encouraged. Used
papers are collected for printing draft documents to reduce
paper usage and paper waste. The use of photocopying is
reviewed regularly to avoid wasting of paper and energy. We
encourage our staff to use electronic communications, such
as email, to replace the use of paper. In addition, used toner
cartridges of our printers are kept for suppliers’ recycling to
reduce wastes.
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Use of Resources

During the Reporting Period, summary of the Group’s energy
consumption is shown as below:

ERER
RBEHRAR - REBERBEREEMELT ¢

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS - ENERGY CONSUMPTION 2018
FTERBREE-ERER —E-NF
Fuel consumption (litres) 19,380
BEREFE (F1)

Fuel consumption/average no. of staff (litres/staff) 524
BERHEREFHEIAE (4BI)

Electricity consumption (kwh) 66,790
AE (TRE)

Electricity consumption/average no. of staff (kwh/staff) 1,805

AE/FTHEIAE (TRE ET)

We believe that our staff's efforts can have a great
contribution to the efficient use of resources. Therefore,
in our staff handbook, we have put forward policies on
reducing the use of resources. It not only demonstrates our
commitment to environmental protection, but also increases
our staff's awareness of protecting the environment and
enables our staff to optimise the use of resources. Energy
usage is monitored regularly and any significant fluctuation
in the consumption will be investigated. We also regulate
the use of vehicles to avoid abuse of resources. Regular
maintenance and cleaning of air conditioners are carried out
to maintain the efficiency and lower the energy consumption.

Except for the measures adopted for the efficient use of
fuel and electricity, we also pay attention to the water
conservation. Water is supplied to our offices through the
respective property management company where our offices
locate. Although our business operations do not consume
significant volume of water and it is not feasible to measure
our water consumption, we still promote the awareness of
water conservation. Notices are posted at the prominent
places to remind our staff to save water and reduce
unnecessary wastage of water.

In the current financial year, the Group is also engaging in
wine merchandising business. Packaging materials are used
for the delivery of wine products to our customers. We try
to keep the original packaging of wine products to reduce
the use additional packaging materials. Reusable wine bags
and bubble wraps are used for protecting wine bottles when
necessary. In the Reporting Period, only insignificant amount
of bubble wrap was consumed and 130 units were used.
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Environment and Natural Resources

For our procurement of furnishings and materials services,
wood is a common raw material used by our suppliers
for manufacturing the specified items required by our
customers. We take necessary procedures to prohibit our
suppliers to use wood from illegal sources for the production
of furnishings and materials supplied to our Group. The wood
suppliers have to confirm that they are in compliance with
relevant rules, regulations and certifications.

The Group also pays close attention to the design and
fitting-out works carried out by our subcontractors and
ensures that they strictly comply with the relevant laws
and regulations and do not cause any damage to the
environment. For the Group’s other business segments,
they do not cause any direct and significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

The Group strives to reduce the use of natural resources
and closely monitor impacts to the environment from our
business operations. By achieving sustainable development
of our business, we can generate long-term values to our
stakeholders and the community. During the Reporting
Period, the Group did not have any non-compliance relating
to environment and preservation of natural resources.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES ON OUR

OPERATIONS

Supply Chain Management

Design and fitting-out works and procurement of furnishings
and materials services require a lot of outsourcing,
subcontracting and purchases. The Group understands that
proper management on the supply chain is key for us to
ensure business continuity and to assume the respective
social responsibilities.

Our subcontractors are required to provide products or
delivery services in compliance with applicable industrial
laws and environmental laws in Hong Kong. They also have
to be responsible for their employee’s insurance and safety,
and to ensure their tools and machinery used to carry out
the work are in compliance with all applicable laws including
those in relation to industrial safety. We also required our
major material suppliers to provide written confirmation that
they abide all applicable laws.
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The Group’s procurement process encourages fairness
and applies a high level of objectivity and impartiality in
supplier and subcontractor selection. They are selected on
the basis of the quality of their work and service, the ability
to comply with the relevant laws and regulations, their
technology knowhow, their business integrity, sustainability
and cost effectiveness. We have high expectations on our
subcontractors and suppliers in areas and issues such as
child labour, force labour, human rights, environment, health
and safety, as well as bribery and corruption.

In our wine product procurement process, we have set
strict criteria for the selection of suppliers to ensure
product quality. We only select wine merchants with good
reputation and high star rating. It is important that those wine
merchants are reliable in supply and have a good trading
history with the Group.

Product Responsibility

Quality control in our design and fitting-out works is one
of the key differentiators between our competitors and us.
The Group's quality management system is well-established
to assure the quality of our projects. Our project managers
are responsible to oversee the progress of the project
and to assure quality and consistency across the process
of the project. We also monitor the production progress
of furnishings and materials of our projects and carry out
inspections to ensure the production is in line with the design
specifications.

During the execution of the project, the Group’s designs
are constantly checked against constructional constraints
to assure feasibility and are monitored to meet customers’
requirements and expectations. In the completion stage of
the project, a final site check is carried out with customers
to certify all works are completed in accordance with
design specifications and customers’ requirements. After
acceptance of works by customers, the defect liability
period lasting from one month to one year is offered to our
customers. All defective works are rectified during the defect
liability period. During the Reporting Period, we have not
experienced any material claim by our customers in respect
of the projects completed by us.

AEEMNKBREREAFRA - WENKkE
HEBEDEERRASERBRRILENT
BoHEBERSEENIBRBEETIERRBEE
= BTHEBEEREREAERAEE S - Bl

R RIS - AT EM RN R s 1T
E-RPEOEALHEFREET - B8

BT A -RE BEEKZEURBEM
RBEBSETEABERFSEHE -

EHRMHEBEREBRES  KMEET
BRSO HERHERE  UBREREX -
BMESEEBRSBEERSERNZERN
R ERBHRVALMBHATEMHE
NREREBMBERIFNIFGESL o

EmBE

R REETRETNEESEH HRMNEF
ﬂ?ﬁ&ﬁZﬁ%EaE%Z*o$ﬁlE
HETEEERHE UREBRBEEE - #M
mﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁggﬁﬁmﬁE VARE (R T8
BRNOEER - - RATHIER EE
REHEEELEE TIAEE L ETRB - A
EREENARRS

ERBRMITEIED - 88 TR E R
Kﬁlﬁ%xﬁr AREMRATITIE - W EE
TER UREEPHNEREME - £#HE

if%_l__ﬁfabfx HEPETRRNESRSE - U

BRAMENIEORBERARBREEFPHNE

REK - ERXRFPRKTIRE RAEPEH—

BEAZE—FHRMEEMEH - RASUERRE

AEEHREROMERRBIRETAME - R

BEHA - RALBELERT PRI TKA

BERENEMERRE -



Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (=12 & Rz A R A &

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In our fine and rare wine merchandising business, product
quality is crucial for maintaining customer loyalty. As wine
products are susceptible to their storage environment, we
store our wine products in external wine warehouse to
preserve wine quality and value. We select professional wine
storage provider to ensure proper maintenance of our wine
products. In the Reporting Period, we did not receive any
complaint against the quality of our wine products.

The Group emphasises the importance of protecting our
stakeholders’ personal data and has policies with appropriate
security measures to manage their data. During the Reporting
Period, we are not aware of any incident of non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
the use of our products and services.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to preventing bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. All directors and employees
in Hong Kong are regulated by the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Hong Kong) (“the Ordinance”). Employees working
in Mainland China must also comply with the local legislation
to prevent bribery. The Group prohibits all directors or
employees to obtain any benefit from clients, suppliers or any
person who has business dealings with the Group. The Group
has formulated policies and procedures to ensure every
employee do not provide, undertake or receive any improper
and illegal benefits. The staff manual of our Group also
standardises the code of conduct. Employees are encouraged
to report any act that contravenes the Ordinance or other
relevant legislations on this aspect to their department heads
and the directors.

In our money lending business, the Group is well aware of
the importance of prevention of money laundering and has
set guidelines to assist our staff in identifying the types of
risks and relevant characteristics. Trainings and seminars are
provided to ensure our staff to keep abreast of the relevant
knowledge and regulatory update.
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OUR COMMUNITY Pt E
Community Investment HERE

The Group is committed to contribute and support our ZAEEBEBIREBMIEIBERMECL T
communities in which we operate. We hope to create H#tl® - HMALRBEIENLEEEFHER
positive impact to the society through collaboration and 7' A EEATEFE - HMEEHEM
employee volunteerism. We encourage our staff and their MEIRHEREKELINEREE @ &E
family members to volunteer their time and skills to benefit L& o AL ENMERT LA BIALE - T
the communities. It can help the community and also enable EBAIBEEMHE TE FEL S KIRE
our staff to increase their awareness to the social and %8 - RMEHA - BRFIHETHES =
environmental issues. During the Reporting Period, our staff EEIMANEBEZREZE - HELM7TEM
continued to participate the meaningful activities to help J&E®) ' LEBH SR EZTEMA ©
others. They participated in the blood donation campaign in

order to help the needy persons in the society.

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CHECKLIST ESGHRE oIk

ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
EBmE it 8Z£8
A. Environmental

A. RiE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBEA1 : BER D

General Information on: 42 - 44
Disclosure (a) the policies; and

—AR IR (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRABRRKBERBEN - M/KEIHAEES  EENEEREEVNEL

£ -

(@) B &k

(b) BFEHBEITABEATENB@EEEREINER -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 44
PR S E R AR BE R o

KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 44
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RERBENRE (UAWE) & (ER) ZE (MAgESEA -
ARMEEAHE)
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF

[Em a3t 828

A. Environmental

A. BB

Aspect A1: Emissions

BEA1 : BB

KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, | Not applicable
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). for disclosure

FELAERENGE HHE) R (MER) B (MASEE | TEMARE
B SERSHE) -

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where 43
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FFEAREEEDHEE (LWEHE) &k (WER) 5E (WUEBE=S

Bl - HFERIHE) o

KPI A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved. 42 - 43
UK BE DL E R b R PTIS AR o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, 45

reduction initiatives and results achieved.
WEEEENEZREYNFT L BIEELEENHEELAERR -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

[EEA2 : EIREEA

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and 46
Disclosure other raw materials.

—MRHEE BRERER (BERER  KEREMEME) AECR -

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas 46

or oil) in total (kwh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

REAESNEE R KEZEER (NE - f50h) e UTFETRE
BitE) REE (NMASEBSM  SEREHE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production 46
volume, per facility).
BIFEKEREE (MAGEEEN - BERMETE) -

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results achieved. 46
i pE IR E AT 8l RS R ©

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for | Not applicable
purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved. for disclosure
FiSKEGE AKR L] B RERE - ARRARKS G RAENE - iE R

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if 46

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.
SR mMATABERMENEE (UBEtE) k& (MER) BEESMGE -
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
[Em a3t 828
Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : BERRAAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the 47

Disclosure environment and natural resources.

—MREE RIEEIT ABRIERRAERIERNE RN ENBER -

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment 47
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HEBTBHHRELAAERNEAZELRERDNEEFHATERN
178 °

B. Social
B. &
Employment and Labour Practices
B R % T 55
Aspect B1: Employment
fE@EB1 : EfE
General Information on: 39 -40
Disclosure (a) the policies; and
—MRH R (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.
B M\&%ME BEREH LERY  RE - TERE 2ot R
ISR DA 2 EA 55 58 AR A Y
( ) WE &
b) BFHEITABEAZENEBEZ LRI ER -
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EEB2 : BREHEZE
General Information on: 41
Disclosure (a) the policies; and
— MR E (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
ERRBLZE2TERREREEEHEBEEEER
( ) B R
b) EFHETABERTENHBEERBRONNER -
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
[Em a3t 828
B. Social

B. &

Employment and Labour Practices

BRERRZIESR

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FEEB3 : R R IEI

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging 40
Disclosure duties at work. Description of training activities.

— MR EE FRARTEERITIEBREN MBI REERBUR - #HlFINES -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[BHEB4 : S TR

General Information on: 42
Disclosure (a) the policies; and

— kR (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.

B IEZET Roa%I5 T -

(@) B &

(b) BFHETABEALENHBBEZRADINER

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EMEB5 : HEHEEE

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply 47
Disclosure chain.

—RIEE BEHERNRE ML ERABBER -
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ASPECTS DESCRIPTION PAGE REF
=] st 28
B. Social

B. #&

Employment and Labour Practices

R RS T 55

Aspect Bé6: Product Responsibility

[EEBG6 : EmEME

General Information on: 48 - 49
Disclosure (a) the policies; and

—MREE (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and methods of redress. L
REMREHRERNBENEERELZE BS - REEALBEEARERT

AR
(a) BE &
(b) BFHBITAGERZENHEBEE KRB ER
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EMEB7 : REE
General Information on: 49
Disclosure (a) the policies; and
— MR (b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering.

BRI 9% - MEFRERER

(@) B+ &

(b) BFHBETAEERZENBBEERAOINER

Ccommunity
#HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EEBS : HERE
General Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 50
Disclosure communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
—R R into consideration the communities” interests.
BENAELHERTHRETACEMTHLETENBREER DS ZRE
@ M 2= HBUR -




Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (=12 & Rz A R A &

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is pleased
to present this annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 42 to
the consolidated financial statements.

During the year, the Group has completed an acquisition of a
company with licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The
Group has not yet commenced the securities business and is
in the process of formulating its the business plan.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including a
discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and an indication of likely future developments in the
group'’s business, is doctored in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 6 to 15 of this annual report.
This discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2018 and the state of affairs of the Group as at that
day are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 79 to 80.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2018.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and in note
39 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2018, there are no reserves available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company.
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PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements in the investment property of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in
note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2018 are set out in note 31
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS
Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as at 31 March 2018 are set out in notes 28 and 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group's top five
customers accounted for approximately 55% of the revenue.
The top five suppliers accounted for approximately 41% of
the total purchases for the year. In addition, the Group’s
largest customer accounted for approximately 24% of the
revenue and the Group's largest supplier accounted for
approximately 11% of the total purchases for the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders (which to the knowledge
of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's issued
share capital) had any interest in these major customers and
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS
During the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Directors were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Liu Rongsheng
Mr. Wang Jun
Mr. Zhang Weijie
(appointed on 7 May 2018)

Non-executive Director
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex

Mr. Wu Zhao

Mr. Lam Cheok Va

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in
accordance with the articles of association (the “Articles”).

Mr. Zhang Weijie, appointed as a Director after the last
annual general meeting, will retire and, being eligible, offer
himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with article 113 of
the Articles. In addition, in accordance with article 141 of
the Articles, Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong, Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex
and Mr. Lam Cheok Va will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 16
to 19 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

A list of the names of the directors of the Company's
subsidiaries during the year and up to the date of this report can
be found in the Company’s website at www.royalcentury. hk.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the year under review, each Director has a service
contract or letter of appointment with the Company for an
initial term of two to three years and is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles
of Association. Save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors has a service contract or letter of appointment
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year under review and up to the date of this
report, Directors have an interest in any business apart
from the Group’s business, which competes or is likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
business that need to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 11.04 of
the GEM Listing Rules are as follows:

EENRBSH

REBFEA  SEFEEARFGFILRBA

WAEREE OTEPR_E=F WAK
EENBAERERETNRER- K%LXBEE%

SN - SR E F AR R B R AR I B A AR AL

TAAAEER-—FRAKEMEB TN

& AERERINRBEEHIEREE -

EEREGANERRBRREK
2 FE

REBFAREEARARER EEFRELRE
BB EEKHEEBEREE T REBREF
ZEMEBR(BRAEEZEBIN FHEBERE
GEM_EM#RAIE11.04FBE TR EMAEROT

Director
2=

Name of company
NCIEEE

Nature of business
EBRME

Nature of interests
ERHE

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
PRAER L

Noble Century
Investments Holdings

Money lending business
MIEZET

Executive director and
chief executive officer

Limited ("Noble Century”)
and its subsidiaries
CImEERBRA
([CHRIEE]D R
HB AT

Mr. Liu Rongsheng
B ER A -

China Ocean Fishing
Holdings Limited
(“China Ocean”) and
its subsidiaries
EPI#@%H B R

NR(THEDEFE]) R
HB AR

As the Board is independent to the boards of directors of the
abovementioned companies, the Group is capable of carrying
on its business independently to, and at arm’s length, from
the business of those companies.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors was
interested in any business (apart from the Group’s business)
which competed or was likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year.

Money lending business
MIE T

of Noble Century
CIHBRELHATESR
ITEABE

Chairman, executive
director and chief
executive officer of

China Ocean

PRFZER

HITES MITEAAE
HREEFSEBEYUN LA ARZESEE A
SBEBENE EAt%D\ MEBIRAFEE
EE%&%%O
B EXFRE TN EERAFE AR R

AEBEXEBERSAHREBRNRT 2 EMEE
(BRAKBEBIN) R EE R -
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INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS IN
CONTRACTS AND COMPETING INTERESTS

There was no contract of significance between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and a shareholder (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) or any of its subsidiaries, at any time
during the year under review.

A deed of non-competition dated 7 July 2014 was executed
by Genius Idea Holdings Limited in favour of the Company
regarding certain non-competition undertakings given by
a shareholder in favour of the Company. The details of
the deed of non-competition have been disclosed in the
Prospectus.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company was entered into or existed during the year ended
31 March 2018.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set up by the remuneration
committee of the Company. Further details of emolument
policy are set out in Management Discussion and Analysis on
page 14 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the directors and five
individuals with highest emoluments are set out in note 13
and note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group strictly complies with the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) in making mandatory provident fund contributions for
its Hong Kong employees.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
THE DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES
OF THE COMPANY OF ANY ASSOCIATED

CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company (the “Chief Executive”) had any
interests or short positions in the shares of the Company (the
“Shares”), underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings
by directors of listed issuer as referred to in rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
At no time during the year ended 31 March 2018 was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in the Company or any
other body corporate.

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2018 had the
Directors and the Chief Executive (including their spouses
and children under 18 years of age) any interest in, or been
granted, or exercised any rights to subscribe for the shares
(or warrants or debentures, is applicable) of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of the
SFO).
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS

OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, so far as the Directors and the Chief
Executive are aware and based on the public records filed
on the website of the Stock Exchange and records kept by
the Company, the interest and short positions of the persons
or corporations (other than the Directors and the Chief

EEERE

ARBREEZERRAKRAD KB
RO zBERAR

R_ZE-NF=ZA=+—H HREFRTE
THRABRMA  RREBEBIABMETFZA
PR R AR AMRIF 2528k - THIALIOE
B(ZEEREZTHRABRIN) RN EEEH
Bty A TN IR B E 5 M E R F155336

Executive) in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in

the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO

were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company Rz

Il

EBERZER

FRAFEZECMAZERE AR WMT -

Approximate

Number percentage

Capacity/Nature of of Shares of the issued

Name of Shareholder interests in capital held Shares

HERTRG

RERHER B RBEAME FrsRo#E ZBHED

Superb Smart Limited Beneficial owner 75,440,000 20.78%

ERAAA

Ms. Zheng Juhua (Note 1) Interest of a Controlled Corporation 75,440,000 20.78%
BTt (1) REZEHEE B

Time Vanguard Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 50,000,000 13.77%

EREREA
China Huarong International Holdings Interest of a Controlled Corporation 50,000,000 13.77%
Limited (Note 2)

REERBRERER A (FE2) REZGEE B

Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (Note 2) Interest of a Controlled Corporation 50,000,000 13.77%
EREXEREFEAT (HF2) REEGEE B

China Huarong Asset Management Interest of a Controlled Corporation 50,000,000 13.77%

Co., Ltd. (Note 2)

PEEREEEREROAERAA (ME2) RREHZE #ER

Mr. Wang Shengdong Beneficial owner 45,484,000 12.53%

EAERESE

BEDBEEA

61



62

Annual Report 2017/2018 —Z—+ /—Z— \FEHKE

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESEHRE

Approximate

Number percentage

Capacity/Nature of of Shares of the issued

Name of Shareholder interests in capital held Shares

HERTRG

BE N B REEAME FreRGEE ZBRNESH

Taiping Quantum Prosperity Fund Beneficial owner 31,808,000 8.76%
EREAA

Genius Idea Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 20,000,000 5.51%
ExEREA

Mr. Chan Tat Wah (Note 3) Interest of a controlled corporation 20,000,000 5.51%

BRiZZE LA (HEE3) REEHEE B

Ms. Lee Yuk Pui Kawina (Note 3) Family interest 20,000,000 5.51%

FEMA T (HE3) RIikER

Notes: et -

1, 75,440,000 Shares are registered in the name of Superb Smart 1. 75,440,0008% % 0 J5 & 7L HSuperb Smart
Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ms. Zheng Juhua. Accordingly, Limited& T ZRAHAEBRHIEL L2 EREE -
Ms. Zheng Juhua is deemed to be interested in the relevant Bt - SR TRBEERRBEGEAEEA
Shares under the SFO. RAEERDAEAER -

2. 50,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of Time Vanguard 2. 50,000,000/ B £7 75 & &2 M Time Vanguard
Holdings Limited, which is wholly-owned by China Huarong Holdings Limited# T » &% A 7] i 7 BU 2 g X
International Holdings Limited (“Huarong International”). BERBERAR ((ERBEE])2EHS -
Huarong International is jointly-owned as to 11.9% by Huarong EREEAERBEREEREERECT AR
Zhiyuan Investment & Management Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Zhiyuan”) ([ERBEDENMIBRERELEREER
and 88.1% by Huarong Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Huarong Real A ([ERMBZE]) (H881%HRARH -
Estate”)
Each of Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real Estate is ERBEREREXZREBRTRHEREESE
wholly-owned by China Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd. BEROBERAR ([PEHER])2EHE -
(“China Huarong")
Accordingly, each of Huarong International, Huarong Real Estate Bt - EZRBER - EREERTPREERRIRE
and China Huarong is deemed to be interested in the relevant HFRRAEGRIRERSRN RO EA S -
Shares under the SFO.

3. 20,000,000 Shares are registered in the name of Genius Idea 3. 2 0,0 0 0,0 0 OBZA&1H T3 E R K Genius Idea

Holdings Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Tat Wah.
Ms. Lee Yuk Pui Kawina is the spouse of Mr. Chan Tat Wah.
Accordingly, each of Mr. Chan Tat Wah and Ms. Lee Yuk Pui
Kawina is deemed to be interested in the relevant Shares under
the SFO.

Holdings Limited®& T @ & RlFRMREE T &
2EWEB - FTEMEZ T ARESEREZRE -
Bt REZEXERFEMEALZEAREE S
KRB GG BB DA = o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, there was
no person or corporation (other than the Directors and the
Chief Executive) who had any interest or short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

SHARES

During the year ended 31 March 2018, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s securities.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group
or existed during the year ended 31 March 2018.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant
options to any full time or part time employee of the
Company or any member of the Group (the “Eligible
Participant(s)”) as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. The Company conditionally
adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
on 30 June 2014 whereby the Board are authorised, at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Share
Option Scheme, to grant options to subscribe for the shares
of the Company to the Eligible Participant. The Share Option
Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing from the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme.

As at 31 March 2018, the total number of shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company available for issue under the
Scheme is 30,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of the issued
Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") of the aggregate
number of Shares in issue immediately upon completion of
the listing of the Shares in July 2014.
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Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares
granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the “Option”),
the Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company
by way of consideration for the grant. The Option will be
offered for acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date
on which the Option is granted. The subscription price for
the Shares subject to Options will be a price determined by
the Board and notified to each participant and shall be the
highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the Options, which must be a day on which trading of
Shares take place on the Stock Exchange (the “Trading Day");
and (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the 5
Trading Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided
that the total number of Shares which may issue upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme does not exceed the Scheme Mandate Limit. The
Company may at any time refresh such limit, subject to
the shareholders’ approval and the issue of a circular in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, provided that the
total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under all the share option schemes of the Company does not
exceed 30% of the Shares in issued at the time. An option
may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date of
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no share
option has been granted by the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

From information publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended
31 March 2018, the Company has maintained the public float
required by the GEM Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
considers all the independent non-executive Directors
were independent during the period from their respective
appointments and up to 31 March 2018.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The transactions as set out in note 38 to the consolidated
financial statements were connected transactions which
were exempt from any disclosure and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

As far as the transactions set out in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements are concerned, the
remuneration of the Directors as determined pursuant to
the service contracts/letters of appointment entered into
between the Directors and the Group were connected
transactions which were exempt from any disclosure and
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

The Directors have confirmed that the Company has
complied with the disclosure requirement in accordance with
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s articles of association provide that the
Directors are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all action, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they may incur or sustain in
the execution of the duties of their office.

During the year, the Company has put in place as appropriate
insurance cover in respect of Directors’ liabilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company maintains a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Details of the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 35. The
Directors believe the long term financial performance as
opposed to short term rewards is a corporate governance
objective. The Board would not take undue risks to make
short term gains at the expense of the long term objectives.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to observe the relevant laws and
regulations. The Group has appointed a compliance officer
and an external compliance adviser to oversee compliance
with all relevant regulations.

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
throughout the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group is set out in the five years financial summary on
page 168 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed with
the management and the Company’s external auditor the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
and discussed the auditing, internal control and financial
reporting process including the review of financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016
were audited by SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited.

The financial statements for the years ended 31 March 2017
and 2018 have been audited by Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK)
CPA Limited (“Reanda”) who will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Reanda as the auditors of the Company is
to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

By Order of the Board
Chan Chi Yuen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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I. REANDA

REANDA LAU & AU YEUNG (HK) CPA LIMITED
MREZERE(EE)BEEBMERAS]

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ROYAL CENTURY RESOURCES HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”)
set out on pages 78 to 167, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

21/F, Tai Yau Building
181 Johnston Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
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2818157
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

o Recognition of revenues and costs from construction
contracts and amounts due from (to) customers for
contract work

o Recoverability of loans and interest receivables

o Impairment assessment of intangible assets

o Valuation of investment property
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B ZBERE

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

RRETEERE)

Key Audit Matter
BRENSE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
BMNMEERREEE

Recognition of revenue and costs from construction contracts and amounts due from (to)

customers for contract work

BRARBRESNZIWRBENRAFURER(EFENITRENEA

The Group recognised revenue from construction
contracts by reference to the stage of completion of
the contract activity at the end of reporting period,
measured based on the proportion that contract
costs incurred for work performed to date relative
to the estimated total contract costs. The variations
in contract work, claims and incentive payments
are included to the extent, which involve the
management’s best estimates and judgments, that
the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt
is considered probable. The management estimated
the construction costs which mainly comprise
sub-contracting charges and costs of materials
based on the guotations from time to time provided
by the major contractors/suppliers/vendors and the
experience of the management.
BEEE2BAMERRESANES < THPEE - BRKE
BESA WG  WIRESHETIEMES 26 LHKAR
HEETEEHKRA A E - ERITEES)  RER
RENAAEEN SREEM] SEiTE RER A8
W9 geat Al - EE R P RE BB R EMET R
o BEEEHRERANMGE  FEZEBERBIKBAE
EEGERHER B RED HE AR B AR R
B UERBRBEEEENLCRETE °

For this reason, we identified the recognition of
revenue and costs from construction contracts and
amounts due from (to) customers for contract work as
a key audit matter.

E it - F I AR B RS A 2 Wz TR AR DA J g Ik
(MMBEFEHNTIREFEZERE—BEAEZEE

Our procedures in relation to the construction
revenue and costs recognised and amounts due
from (to) customers for contract work included:
ORI B BES L) 2 Was MK AN A R ER(FHE
FEHNIERE  RMERNNET B

e For each selected contract, agreeing the
construction revenue to the construction
contracts and variation orders, if any, and
architect’s instructions or other form of
agreements or other correspondences;

e HRNEMHKENMNEA  HEERFHEEESLD
RERTREES (F) REEMBRIEME
2\ B 199 5 2 EL A [0 8 SR fE L ¥

e Discussing with the management to evaluate
the reasonableness of their estimated
construction costs;

o MEBENG  MEMIEEREIRELSE

e Discussing with the management to understand
the status of completion of the relevant
construction projects and the reasons for the
change of budget contract value and contract
costs during the year;

e HEBREN® WUTHEMEEIER 2 THMN
Mo UAERREARBTREE S NEERBRERSD
JRA -

o \Verifying the reasonableness of estimated total
costs and the actual costs incurred by matching
against the latest cost quotations provided by
the major contractors/suppliers/vendors on a
sample basis; and

o MERUSMATEAER MER EHRE
ZARE R ZBKN AR EBERESL ZK
rEREE: &

e (Calculating the revenue recognized based on
the stage of completion.
o BEHFEUGANE TREREER 2 TERK

Ng
S o
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

B ZBERE

RREETEERE)

Key Audit Matter
BRENEHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
R EERERETEE

Recoverability of loans and interest receivables
FE UL & 3 R R Bz A W=

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has loans and interest
receivables of HK$24.2 million.
RZZE—N\F=A=+—H0 ' EBE5EEKEREFE
24,200,000/ T ©

Loans and interest receivables of the Group comprise
mainly receivables from money lending business.
EREERKERRFNEFEBREREER 2 BKFIE -

Management assessed the recoverability of loans
and interest receivables by reviewing debtors’ aging
profile, credit history and status of subsequent
settlement, and determine whether an impairment is
made.

EREAZREHNEBANKRRAES  EELERARE
R - SR E R RS 2 FT i E M - IR E =S
TEHIRE ©

For the purpose of impairment assessment, significant
judgements and assumptions, including the credit
risks of debtors, the timing and amount of realization
of these receivables, are required for the identification
of impairment events and the termination of the
impairment charge.

REARTMS - REBRES G &G ARER
FEREFPEERRBAKREBEKIE 2 ERFE RS
B {EHERHE KRR -

For this reason, we identified the recoverability of
loans and interest receivables as a key audit matter.
Eit - BHMEAIERERRFE 2T BRI A—THEX
FERTEIE -

Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of loans and
interest receivables included:

HEKRERRFE ZATWE Y - HMBEERBRNEF
B

e Testing the accuracy of ageing of loans and
interest receivables on a sample basis;
o MEBHBKERENE 2 RER TR LR

e Understanding the management’s basis and
assessment in relation to the recoverability of
loans and interest receivables;

s THEEEABESEKENRRFE ZTHE
K IR AT 7%

e Verifying the balances of loans and interest
receivables by request and received of
confirmations on a sample basis; and

o MBREIMREIMER K  ARBERKERKLFE
HIAEER + &

e FEvaluating management’s assessment on the
recoverability of amount due from individual
debtors by:

o BTHFRX  FAEHEEEHRKERNGEREANKE
Rz AT e 2 BT A

— Examining the subsequent settlement from
these individual debtors on a sample basis;

or
- WMEBREZFENESANRRENBER
%

- For those individual debtors without any
subsequent settlements, analyzing the
Group’ s business relationship with them
and their payment history.

- MERYELENNENEBAMS @ 2TE
SEERE 2 FBEERARBER Mok o
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

RRETEERE)

Key Audit Matter
BRENEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
R RERERETEE

Impairment assessment of intangible assets
BREERENML

As of 31 March 2018, the carrying value of intangible
assets, which mainly arose from (i) acquisition of a
subsidiary and (ii) purchase of assets through the
acquisition of a subsidiary were HK$18,738,000 and
HK$1,886,000 respectively.
RZZE—NF=A=+—H - EBESEAE(ONE—H
MEBAR R()BBYW —HMENBARBEEERKD
mREEMREEED B A %18,738,0007T & /& &
1,886,0007T °

Impairment of intangible assets is assessed by
management by comparing the recoverable amount
and carrying amount at the end of the reporting
period. Significant judgement and assumptions were
required by management of the Group in assessing
the recoverable amounts of the intangible assets. The
recoverable amounts are determined with reference
to (i) the fair value less cost of disposal which require
significant estimates by reference to the comparables
selected and (ii) the value in use of the assets, which
required significant assumptions on discount rates and
growth rates in order to derive the net present value
of the discounted future cash flow analysis.
REWERR BEESALEMANKE ¢ EKXKEE
HEVEERBEETTH  BEEEEEMNGZER]
Y [e1 6 BHZ8 VE i 8 X H T K R R o AU (Bl 6 58 T A4S 2(i)
ZRNTEREEKA (A2ELTEA B LLRIE R &E
HEBEARMGE) RNEEZEREE (EHRRERER
REHBEABRR)EETE UWEHMBARBERED
2 IREFHE -

Management engaged an independent qualified
professional valuer to prepare valuation reports for
the assessment of the recoverable amount of the
intangible assets based on its fair value less costs of
disposal, which involved the exercise of significant
judgement and estimation.

EREEFAERIIDEEMTHERGEERS UTHE

PRA - %R EHE S NOE R E K A i S A o

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessments on the intangible assets included:
MEEEEREBENE - RAFMEKIRNET B

e Evaluating the independent qualified
professional valuer’s competence, capabilities
and obectivity and reviewing their terms of
engagement with the Group;

o HBVEERIEMER TR ROREEH
M WEMER EEBEZEZEER

e Obtaining the external valuation reports and
meeting with the external valuer to discuss and
challenge the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support
significant judgements and assumptions applied
in the valuation model including discount rates
and growth rates;

o WMBIEBMEERS - WERINBEEMSE - AH
AEERE FANGERE  XFBEERHABH
miHHE  ARMGEEREFMEANRE (25
WERERE) - WREER

e Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation
model; and
o ERMERINEMERE Rk

e Checking key assumptions and input data in the
valuation model to supporting evidence.

o ERNHERAMNBARBRILE ARSI FE
% o
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

B ZBERE

REETEERE)

Key Audit Matter
BRENEHE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters
RO RERERETEE

Impairment assessment of intangible assets (Continued)

BREERMENMG(E)

For this reason, we identified the impairment
assessment of intangible assets as a key audit matter.
FHit - BMBRNEEEEREN GRS - EHERNETF
I8 o

Valuation of investment property
BREWMEZHE

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has investment
property of HK$25,000,000.
R—_E—NF=ZA=+—8"
25,000,000/ 7t °

EEEARENES

The net changes in fair value of investment
properties recorded in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income was HK$2,500,000.
RiZEEEARERATHNEENENATFEEEH A
7 %E2,500,0007%8 7T °

The fair values of investment property as at 31 March
2018 was assessed by the board of directors based
on independent valuations prepared by a qualified
external property valuer based on certain estimates,
including, prevailing market rents for comparable
properties in the same location and condition,
expected future market rents and appropriate discount
rates, market price, if appropriate.

R N\F=ZA=+—"H8 EFTEREGERINLY
EHEMRENBYGESTH TREVENQATE
B - 5BERINDBYEMSBRINB L GEESE NS THET
RER  BREB AL T W ENEET5E
© - BEIEARMSHES REENTIAE  RENTSE
1% o

For this reason, we identified the valuation of
investment property as a key audit matter.
Hit - BB EME 2 HER —EERTFTSEE o

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment property include:
MIEEMEZHE  BROARINEF BT :

Evaluating the independent qualified
professional valuer's competence, capabilities
and objectivity and reviewing their terms of
engagement with the Group;

AHEBYABRBEEMGEMZT L I RTE
- WEMER BEREZREERK:

Meeting with the valuer to understand the
valuation techniques adopted by the valuer,
obtaining the valuation report for property
measured at fair value, and assessing the
relevance and reasonableness of valuation
techniques used by the valuer; and

EAON SR B A 2 M LA B SR E MR B 2 (S A
it - WERIZE A FEFENDEBERS - LT
HEEMAAEAMERNT 2 BEEREEE &

Evaluating the appropriateness of the key input
data used in the determination of fair value;
and comparing the key inputs to supporting
evidence such as recent sale transaction on the
market.
AEREEATEREAZARGASEBRES
BE THEBEREABEESIFEE (WMER
MHZHER ) ELLER -
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises all the
information in the Group’s 2018 annual report, but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the Other Information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other
Information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibility of directors’ and Audit Committee
for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the company’s internal control.

B ZBERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B % BRET 3R &

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)
o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies

used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the company to cease to continue as a going
concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities on business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Franklin Lau Shiu Wai

Practising Certificate Number: P01886

Hong Kong
25 June 2018

B ZBERE

REMRENAGEMERRAENER
(%)

BMEMBEZZESRRER  SHHAKME

REeBEBEBLEMNEEEXBEEN - WK

HPEBEREREMERAES T ERME

4&%%%%%%EM$E LA K TE 38 F A9
ST - AR S48 b o

tEEZZEQBBNEET - HAEE W
LERHAMEEMBREANBETRSE
2 AmMBKEEEETFE - FAIEZEE
ﬁ¢¢TLL%$E BRIERRARA AT
AABBEELER HEBBKFELNER
T RAEBHERMBETRERLER
ERMBHRRRBBEENARIE - R
RETEERSHBBZER-

MNREZEIRG (FR) EHASEABERAF
S ES -]
k=

HEEFEZRI - P01886

BB
=—NENA-+HH

77



78

Annual Report 2017/2018 —Z—+ /—Z— \FEHKE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEaRkAtEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—+F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5 FET FABT
Revenue W 2= 7 33,097 54,524
Cost of sales $H & B AR (29,686) (64,435)
Gross profit/(loss) EF,(38) 3,411 (9,911)
Other income H A Y A 9 959 741
Increase in fair value of an B E N FE(EIE N
investment property 18 2,500 120
Administrative expenses THRX (34,698) (25,787)
Finance costs & B AR 10 (161) (185)
Loss before tax EN: 00 k= (27,989) (35,022)
Income tax expense TR X 11 (104) (12)
Loss for the year attributable to RARHEEABGFE
owners of the Company B8 12 (28,093) (35,034)
Other comprehensive income/ RNEFEEMEE
(expense) for the year e,/ (Ax)
Items that may be reclassified HEJEF HIER
subsequently to profit or l0ss: Bz ZIEH -
Exchange differences arising on MEGINETSEE
translation of foreign operations ZIER =58 289 (122)
Total comprehensive expenses RNAaEB ANEBEEE
for the year attributable T HFXERE
to owners of the Company (27,804) (35,156)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B R E (L) 16 (7.74) (9.89)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e FHIR L R

As at 31 March 2018 R=—Z— \F=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\#F S — &
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FABT
Non-current assets FERHEE
Plant and equipment R 5 K 5% 4 17 3,332 2,247
Investment property HEYE 18 25,000 22,500
Goodwill GRS 19 854 -
Intangible assets mEAE 20 20,614 -
49,800 24,747
Current assets mENEE
Loan receivables JE W & X 21 24,227 26,080
Inventories FE 22 1,408 8,032
Trade and other receivables 5 & E A e W 58 23 6,990 21,242
Amounts due from customers for BREF &N TERIEA
contract work 24 163 10,072
Amount due from a substantial JEU — % £ BRR R IR
shareholder 25 - 5
Tax recoverable AR B & A - 345
Pledged bank deposit B RIRITIE 26 300 300
Bank balances and cash IRITHESBR AR S 26 41,277 60,027
74,365 126,103
Current liabilities mMEBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 N H b e 5RIE 27 2,962 4,140
Amounts due to customers for JENBEFEEATIEFIE
contract work 24 166 519
Income tax payable JEAS FTi5 AR 157 237
Obligation under a finance lease AT E A E 28 90 87
Secured bank borrowing EERBETEE 29 6,689 6,964
10,064 11,947
Net current assets MENEE 64,301 114,156
114,101 138,903
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RE BRI R

As at 31 March 2018 R=F—/\F=A=+—H

2018 2017
—E-N\#F —ET—+tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5 FET FABT
Capital and reserves BEARK
Share capital A% 31 154,851 154,851
Reserves (R (44,067) (16,263)
Total equity AR AR 110,784 138,588
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFRIBAE 30 3,317 225
Obligation under a finance lease & AR 28 - 90
3,317 315
114,101 138,903

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 167
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
directors on 25 June 2018 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Chi Yuen

BHINEIBAEF167A 2R U BHRERERN
“E-N\FRAZ+HBEREFSRAERK

BAUBTETIESTAERRE

Liu Rongsheng
BlRE
Director
EFE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREBR

For the your ended 31 March 2018 #IE=ZT—\F=A=+—HILtFE

Retained
profits/
Share (Accumulated Exchange
capital (losses) reserve Total
REER/
R (REER) ER#E @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET BT FTAL
(Note 31)
(P &E31)
At 1 April 2016 R-Z—A"ENA—H 76,113 19,093 (200) 95,006
Loss for the year AEEER - (35,034) - (35,034)
Other comprehensive income for ~ AEE E 2 s
the year - - (122) (122)
Total comprehensive expenses for ~ AFELE X HEE
the year - (35,034) (122) (35,156)
Issue of new shares BITHROD 80,850 - - 80,850
Transaction costs attributable to BIIRNDEGR ZHA
issue of shares 2,112) - - 2,112
At 31 March 2017 and R-E—+E=A=+—-HK
1 April 2017 “T—+FMA—H 154,851 (15,941) (322) 138,588
Loss for the year AFEEER = (28,093) - (28,093)
Other comprehensive income for ~ AEEHM2EKA
the year - - 289 289
Total comprehensive expenses for — AEERE % 1A%
the year - (28,093) 289 (27,804)
At 31 March 2018 RZZ—-N\$=A=+—H 154,851 (44,034) (33) 110,784
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & THT THET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEH
Loss before tax PR AT E 1B (27,989) (35,022)
Adjustments for; HE
Increase in fair value of an investment KEWMERTFELEM
property 18 (2,500) (120)
Impairment loss on trade receivables g5 RWHIERERSE 23 4,838 661
Written off of trade and other receivables B 5 N H e Ui k08 Bk 669 =
Depreciation of plant and equipment WEREBITE 17 1,362 1,104
Impairment loss recognised on amount FLEWE B REFTIR
due from a joint venture e SR A R (E B 98 - 356
Finance costs BB KA 161 185
Bank interest income RATH B A (67) @)
Reversal of impairment loss recognised BB SR EMERFIERER
on trade and other receivables HEFERR 23 (43) (50)
Operating cash flows before movements EEBCEHN RETENE
in working capital (23,569) (32,890)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories BERD /(M) 6,624 (8,032)
Decrease in loan receivables EWEZRL / (2m) 1,853 (26,080)
Decrease in trade and other receivables B 5 & H i B Wk IE R D 4,819 25,486
Decrease in amount due from Bl—2FZRFEFIERD
a substantial shareholder 5 =
Decrease in trade and other payables B REMENFBERD (1,279) (28,394)
Decrease in amounts due from customers BUEFEHIRKBRD
for contract work 9,909 38,466
Decrease in amounts due to customers EREPAHIRERERD
for contract work (353) (5,609)
Cash used in operations REMAZE (1,991) (37,053)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded/(paid), net Weml/ (B BBFER - F58 161 (424)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING RETHFAZFES
ACTIVITIES (1,830) (37,477)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=Z— \F=A=1+—HIFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FER FHT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZH
Purchases of plant and equipment BEME K& A (2,446) (1,041)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of a WENBARZEERE
subsidiary FH 33 (12,275) -
Net cash outflow from acquisition of assets BRNENBARKBEE
through acquisition of a subsidiary ZBEENILFE 34 (1,876) -
Advance to a joint venture BRTEERE - (356)
Bank interest received BURITHIE 67 4
Increase in pledged bank deposit B IRIT 7 Z0OE - (300)
Deposit paid on investment project BENKEERES - (4,125)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETFHMAZERS
ACTIVITIES (16,530) (5,818)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Repayment of secured bank borrowing BRAEARTES (275) (292)
Interest paid 258 (161) (185)
Repayment of obligation under a EEREMEAE
finance lease (87) (85)
Proceeds from issuing of new ordinary BT L BRAMEHIE
shares - 80,850
Transaction costs attributable to issue BT L BRI R Z A
of new ordinary shares - 2,112)
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM FINANCING MEEE (FiA) FBzERe
ACTIVITIES (523) 78,176
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH ReRELEENZERY)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 20 (18,883) 34,881
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FNZRERALEEY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 60,027 25,268
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE ExgEo¥E
CHANGES 133 (122)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRZBESRALEEY
THE END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and cash BEETESRIES 41,277 60,027

83



84

Annual Report 2017/2018 —Z—+ /—Z— \FEHKE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated in Hong Kong as a
company with limited liability and its shares are
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are
disclosed in the corporate information section to the
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in (i) provision of design
and fitting-out services, (ii) provision of design and
procurement of furnishings and decorative materials
services, (iii) money lending, and (iv) sourcing and
merchandising of fine and rare wines. During the year,
the Group has completed the acquisition of a company
with licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
The Group has not yet commenced and is now in
formulation of the business plan for the securities
business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its Hong Kong
subsidiaries. Other than those Hong Kong subsidiaries,
the functional currency of subsidiaries established in
Singapore and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") is
denominated in Singapore dollars (“SGD") and Renminbi
(“RMB”) respectively.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSS, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments
and interpretations (“Int(s)”), issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA").

Disclosure Initiative

Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised L0SSes

AS part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSS
2014 - 2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 7
Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 12

1.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=-T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)

The nature and the impact of the amendments are
described below:

(@ Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to
provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash
changes. Disclosure of the changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities is provided in note
35 to consolidated financial statements.

(b) Amendments to HKAS 12 clarify that an entity,
when assessing whether taxable profits will be
available against which it can utilise a deductible
temporary difference, needs to consider whether
tax law restricts the sources of taxable profits
against which it may make deductions on the
reversal of that deductible temporary difference.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance
on how an entity should determine future taxable
profits and explain the circumstances in which
taxable profit may include the recovery of some
assets for more than their carrying amount. The
amendments have had no impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group as the Group
had no deductible temporary differences or assets
that are in the scope of the amendments.

() Amendments to HKFRS 12 clarify that the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 12, other than
those disclosure requirements in paragraphs B10
to B16 of HKFRS 12, apply to an entity’s interest
in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate,
or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or
an associate that is classified as held for sale or
included in a disposal group classified as held for
sale. The amendments have had no impact on the
Group's financial statements as the Group had no
disposal group held for sale as at 31 March 2018.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15 (amendments)
HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23
HKFRS 1 (amendments)
HKFRS 2 (amendments)
HKFRS 4 (amendments)

HKFRS 9 (amenaments)

Financial Instruments'
Revenue from Contrac
Clarification to HKFRS 15

jth Customers'

Leases?

Insurance Contracts®

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

AS part of the Annual Improvements HKFRS
2014-2016 Cycle!

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation”
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HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
(amendments) and its Associate or Joint Venture*
HKAS 19 (amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement?
HKAS 28 (amendments) Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures?
HKAS 28 (amendments) As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle!
HKAS 40 (amendments) Transfers of Investment Property’

Annual Improvements
t0 HKFRSS

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
2015-2017 Cycle?

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019

9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

4 Effective date not yet been determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that, except as
described below, the application of the new and revised
HKFRSs will have no material impact on the results and
the financial position of the Group.

REAEENERS EqRN
(BiTx)
BREENS IR TG GRTER
(31%)
AR EN 2% REERARE LA fR
(%)
ALY ERIRHEEN_F-EE
(31%) ZE-NEEEEENE
BRETERFIR EERENE
(31%)
BRUBRERNERWE FRYFHSEA S F4E2F
—tEEEI RN
L RZE-N\F-—HA B AERBZF
[ HA R AE 3
2 RZZT—NF—A—BUERBZF
ISR
g RZEZ—F—A— A A ERBZF
& HA R A 3

< AR H B R T

ARAREEEY B TXFEIN -
RFE] REERT R AN B RS LR E
BAREE 2 ZERMBIRNEREAF
@,



Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (=& & RIZR B R AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=-T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new requirements
for the classification and measurement of financial
assets. HKFRS 9 was amended in 2010 and includes the
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition. In 2013, HKFRS
9 was further amended to bring into effect a substantial
overhaul of hedge accounting that will allow entities
to better reflect their risk management activities in the
financial statements. A finalised version of HKFRS 9 was
issued in 2014 to incorporate all the requirements of
HKFRS 9 that were issued in previous years with limited
amendments to the classification and measurement by
introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive
income” (“FVTOCI”) measurement category for certain
financial assets. The finalised version of HKFRS 9
also introduces an “expected credit loss” model for
impairment assessments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

o All recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within
a business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms of the
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, are
measured at FVTOCI. All other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at their
fair values at the end of subsequent reporting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities
may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.

2.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective (Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of
that liability is presented in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes
in fair value of financial liabilities attributable to
changes in the financial liabilities” credit risk are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change
in the fair value of the financial liability designated
as fair value through profit or loss was presented
in profit or loss.

In the aspect of impairment assessments,
the impairment requirements relating to the
accounting for an entity’s expected credit losses
on its financial assets and commitments to extend
credit were added. Those requirements eliminate
the threshold that was in HKAS 39 for the
recognition of credit losses. Under the impairment
approach in HKFRS 9 it is no longer necessary for a
credit event to have occurred before credit losses
are recognised. Instead, expected credit losses
and changes in those expected credit losses
should always be accounted for. The amount
of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition and, consequently, more
timely information is provided about expected
credit losses.

B8 M KR 2 AT REEE
BUMBREER (&)
ERUBEREEE

2% )

9% [£ T A

MIETE ABBIBREREA T ERE
ZEMBEZAEME BB
RELBFESRBEZEMBEZ
fZﬁﬂﬁQEbM@(EZE%“?E
""""" B reEREMEEAREAZ
FI| - BRIER E 2 M U ES P R RZ
EFZEEJ—LAM %ﬁ% ﬁ?ﬁl
RWAER E2EFHER - £E
BEZEEE %\@ZZi%ﬁE%E
I (F & @J/ﬁdéTAE%ﬁ DEEEE
=R - BEF B HERE395
EEASBEZERAFERE
Z%mﬂﬁf ZEENTEEHS
BERIBmEREEY o

e REAATE ENARRE
HEE mﬂﬁé&ﬁﬁ%k@ﬁf%

EZRHBEEBHEENGRER
E o WEBSCHRBB G EAIE

3957 N EERR Z%Eﬁazaﬁ@ R
FRM B HmELERER 2 RMETT
% BASBEEREEMN - HAHE
REERE -k  BHREEER
RzERHEEBRZEFHMA
—BEARK - BHEEEBESER
TG AHER - KRB A
RUARMEERR - WM E @R
MBREEEREF -



Royal Century Resources Holdings Limited (=& & RIZR B R AR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=-T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED 2.

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

° HKFRS 9 introduces a new model which is
more closely aligns hedge accounting with risk
management activities undertaken by companies
when hedging their financial and non-financial
risk exposures. As a principle-based approach,
HKFRS 9 looks at whether a risk component
can be identified and measured and does
not distinguish between financial items and
non-financial items. The new model also enables
an entity to use information produced internally
for risk management purposes as a basis for
hedge accounting. Under HKAS 39, it is necessary
to exhibit eligibility and compliance with the
requirements in HKAS 39 using metrics that are
designed solely for accounting purposes. The
new model also includes eligibility criteria but
these are based on an economic assessment
of the strength of the hedging relationship. This
can be determined using risk management data.
This should reduce the costs of implementation
compared with those for HKAS 39 hedge
accounting because it reduces the amount of
analysis that is required to be undertaken only for
accounting purposes.

HKFRS 9 will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early
application permitted.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
adoption of HKFRS 9 in the future will not have
significant impact on amounts reported in respect of the
Group's financial assets and financial liabilities.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Thus, HKFRS 15 introduces a model that applies to
contracts with customers, featuring a contract- based
five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether,
how much and when revenue is recognised. The five
steps are as follows:

i) Identify the contract with the customer;

i) Identify the performance obligations in the
contract;

iii)  Determine the transaction price;

iv)  Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations; and

V)  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies
a performance obligation.

HKFRS 15 also introduces extensive qualitative and
guantitative disclosure requirements which aim to
enable users of the financial statements to understand
the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue
recognition guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 15 will become effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 with early
application permitted. The directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 in the future
will not have a material impact on the amounts reported
and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17
Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of
a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes
two elective recognition exemptions for lessees —
leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will
recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the
lease liability) and an asset representing the right
to use the underlying asset during the lease term
(i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the
right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property,
plant and equipment to which the revaluation model
is applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased
to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced
for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to
separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the
right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to
remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence
of certain events, such as change in the lease term
and change in future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount
of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the
accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle
as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees
and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the
standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group is currently
assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is
considering whether it will choose to take advantage of
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet

effective (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

the practical expedients available and which transition
approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, at
31 March 2018, the Group had future minimum lease
payments under noncancellable operating leases
in aggregate of approximately HK$3,038,000. Upon
adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein
may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be
needed to determine the amount of new rights of use
assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including,
but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of
low-value assets and short term leases, other practical
expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered
into before the date of adoption.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreigh Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance
on how to determine the date of the transaction when
applying HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity
receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign
currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or
liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of
the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on
which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary
asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary
liability (such as deferred income) arising from the
payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance
of recognising the related item, the entity must
determine the transaction date for each payment
or receipt of the advance consideration. Entities
may apply the interpretation on a full retrospective
basis or on a prospective basis, either from the
beginning of the reporting period in which the entity
first applies the interpretation or the beginning of
the prior reporting period presented as comparative
information in the consolidated financial statements
of the reporting period in which the entity first applies
the interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the
interpretation prospectively from 1 April 2018. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the
accounting for income taxes (current and deferred)
when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects the
application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to
taxes or levies outside the scope of HKAS 12, nor does
it specifically include requirements relating to interest
and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments.
The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an
entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (i)
the assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an
entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts
and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the
use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative
effect of application as an adjustment to the opening
equity at the date of initial application, without the
restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January
2019. The interpretation is not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version
of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial
instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous
versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will
adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group will not
restate comparative information and will recognise any
transition adjustments against the opening balance of
equity at 1 April 2018. During fiscal year 2018, the Group
has performed a detailed assessment of the impact of
the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to
the classification and measurement and the impairment
requirements and are summarised as follows:

(@)  Classification and measurement
The Group does not expect that the adoption
of HKFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the
classification and measurement of its financial
assets. It expects to continue measuring at fair
value all financial assets currently held at fair
value.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features
with Negative Compensation (Continued)

®)

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt
instruments recorded at amortised cost or at
fair value through other comprehensive income,
lease receivables, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts that are not accounted for
at fair value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9,
to be recorded based on an expected credit loss
model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime
basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach
and record lifetime expected losses that are
estimated based on the present values of all cash
shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade
receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply
the general approach and record twelve-month
expected credit losses that are estimated based
on the possible default events on its other
receivables within the next twelve months. The
Group has determined that the provision for
impairment will have no significant changes upon
the initial adoption of the standard.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new
five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more structured
approach for measuring and recognizing revenue.
The standard also introduces extensive qualitative
and quantitative disclosure requirements, including
disaggregation of total revenue, information about
performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede
all current revenue recognition requirements under
HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective application or a
modified retrospective adoption is required on the
initial application of the standard. In June 2016, the
HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address
the implementation issues on identifying performance
obligations, application guidance on principal versus
agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to help
ensure a more consistent application when entities
adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity
of applying the standard. The Group plans to adopt the
transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise the
cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1
April 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the
new requirements only to contracts that are not
completed before 1 April 2018. The expected changes
in accounting policies, as further explained below, may
not have a material impact on the Group’s financial
statements from 2018 onwards.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=-T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)
New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 15 Clarifications to HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

The Group’s principal activities consist of (i) provision
of design and fitting and services, (ii) provision of
design and procurement of furnishings and decorative
materials services, (iii) money lending, and (iv) souring
and, merchandising of fine and rare wines of fine wines.
The expected impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS
15 on the Group is summarised as follows:

Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in HKFRS
15 are more detailed than those under the current
HKAS 18. The presentation requirements represent
a significant change from current practice and will
significantly increase the volume of disclosures required
in the Group's financial statements. Many of the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are new and the
Group has assessed that the impact of some of these
disclosure requirements will be significant. In particular,
the Group expects that the notes to the consolidated
financial statements will be expanded because of
the disclosure of significant judgements made on
determining the transaction prices of those contracts
that include variable consideration, how the transaction
prices have been allocated to the performance
obligations, and the assumptions made to estimate
the stand-alone selling price of each performance
obligation. In addition, as required by HKFRS 15, the
Group will disaggregate revenue recognised from
contracts with customers into categories that depict
how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows are affected by economic
factors. It will also disclose information about the
relationship between the disclosure of disaggregated
revenue and revenue information disclosed for each
reportable segment.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more
disclosure, however, the directors of the Company do
not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have
a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue
recognised in the respective reporting periods.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) AND
COMPANIES ORDINANCE (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs issued but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
Amendments to HKAS 19, issued in February
2018, require entities to use the updated actuarial
assumptions to determine current service cost and
net interest for the remainder of the annual reporting
period after such an event. The amendments also
clarify how the requirements for accounting for a plan
amendment, curtailment or settlement affect the asset
ceiling requirements, but do not address the accounting
for “significant market fluctuations” in the absence of a
plan amendment, curtailment or settlement.

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment
Property

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including
property under construction or development, into or
out of investment property. The amendments state that
a change in use occurs when the property meets, or
ceases to meet, the definition of investment property
and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere
change in management’s intentions for the use of a
property does not provide evidence of a change in use.
The amendments should be applied prospectively to
the changes in use that occur on or after the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the
classification of property held at the date that it first
applies the amendments and, if applicable, reclassify
property to reflect the conditions that exist at that
date. Retrospective application is only permitted if it
is possible without the use of hindsight. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 April 2018. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment property that is measured at fair values.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants in the principal
(or most advantageous) market at the measurement
date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit price)
regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique.
Details of fair value measurement are explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If
a subsidiary prepares its financial statements using
accounting policies other than those adopted in the
consolidated financial statements for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial
statements in preparing the consolidated financial
statements to ensure conformity with the group’s
accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power
over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii)
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect
the amount of the Group’s returns. When the Group has
less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee,
power over the investee may be obtained through: (i)
a contractual arrangement with other vote holders; (ii)
rights arising from other contractual arrangements; (iii)
the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights; or
(iv) a combination of the above, based on all relevant
facts and circumstances.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Company reassess whether it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of these elements of control
stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control of the subsidiary and cease when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income of subsidiaries are attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between entities of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations except for business
combinations under common control. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit and loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 either in
profit and loss or as a change to other comprehensive
income. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.
If the total of consideration transferred, noncontrolling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the
profit and loss.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiary are stated at cost less
impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive
directors that makes strategic decisions.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for goods sold and
services rendered in the normal course of business, net
of discounts and sales related taxes.

The Group’s policy for recognition of service income
from provision of design and fitting-out service and
design and procurement of furnishings and decorative
materials service from construction contracts is set
out in the accounting policy headed “Construction
contracts” below.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which
time all the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods
sold;

] the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

o it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of
the transaction can be measured reliably.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract in
relation to provision of design and fitting-out services
and design and procurement of furnishings and
decorative materials can be estimated reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the
reporting period, measured based on the proportion
that contract costs incurred for work performed to date
relative to the estimated total contract costs, except
where this would not be representative of the stage
of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and
incentive payments are included to the extent that the
amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is
considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot
be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to
the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable
will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as
expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised
as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings,
the surplus is shown as amounts due from customers
for contract work. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are
included in the consolidated statement of financial
position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by the
customer are included in the consolidated statement of
financial position under trade and other receivables.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as
assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the consolidated statement of
financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance
expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Contingent
rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e.
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when
the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 HZE=-T—/\F=A=+—HILtFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income,
in which cases, the exchange differences are also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS$) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefits costs and termination
benefits

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
and Central Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as
an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Retirement scheme obligations

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC based employees of the Group participate in
various defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial
governments in the PRC under which the Group and the
PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage
of the employees’ salaries.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds managed by the PRC
government.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Retirement scheme obligations (Continued)
Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is
rendered at the undiscounted amount of the benefits
expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the
related service.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income because it
excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment held for administrative purposes
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of plant and equipment less their residual value, if
any, using the diminishing balance method over their
estimated useful lives or depreciation rates as follows:

Leasehold improvements Shorter of unexpired lease
term or useful life of 3 years

Furniture and fixtures 30%
Office equipment 30%
Motor vehicles 30%

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over
their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned
assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty
that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease
term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement
of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property
is measured at its fair values. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property
is included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries
represents the excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to each
of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of
CGUs, that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination. Each unit or group of units to which
the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. Goodwill is monitored
at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken
annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU containing the goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of
disposal. Any impairment is recognised immediately as
an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Intangible assets other than goodwill
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion
that the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite
is reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If the do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of
intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets
other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement
of financial position comprise cash at banks and on
hand and short-term deposits with a maturity of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and short-term deposits, as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of
financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or 0ss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the
nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts (including all fees paid
or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade and
other receivables, bank balances and cash, amount due
from a substantial shareholder) are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been affected.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of trade receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period, observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired,
and is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial
assets with the exception of trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade
receivable, other receivable or deposits are considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment
is reversed does not exceed what the amortised
cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, secured bank borrowing, obligations under a
finance lease are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments (including
all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group continues to recognise the
asset to the extent of its continuing involvement and
recognises an associated liability. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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3.

—N\F=RA=t+—RHLFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Derecognition (Continued)

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
is recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognised financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or expire. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or 10ss.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or expire. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the
sale.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one
or more uncertain future events not wholly within the
control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised
because it is not probable that outflow of economic
resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability is
not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in
the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is
probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value for the purpose of
impairment assessment, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into
three levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as
follow:
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities.
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is directly or indirectly
observable.
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
determines whether transfer occur between levels
of the fair value hierarchy for assets and liabilities
which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by
reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the directors of the
Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from
those involving estimation (see below), that the
directors of the Company have made in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in consolidated financial statements.

Construction contracts revenue recognition

The Group recognises contract revenue and profit of a
construction contract in relation to provision of design
and fitting-out services and design and procurement
of furnishings and decorative materials according to
the management’s estimation of the total outcome of
the contract as well as the percentage of completion
of construction works. Notwithstanding that the
management reviews and revises the estimates of
both contract revenue and costs for the construction
contract as the contract progresses, the actual outcome
of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs
may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will
affect the revenue and profit recognised.

Deferred taxation on investment property

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets arising from an investment property
that is measured using the fair value model, the
directors of the Company have reviewed the Group's
investment property and concluded that the Group’s
investment property is held under a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property
over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's deferred
taxation on investment properties, the directors of
the Company have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of investment properties
measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted. As a result, the Group
has considered the deferred taxes impact arising from
changes in fair value of investment property.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Income tax

As at 31 March 2018, no deferred tax asset has
been recognised on the tax losses of approximately
HK$87,742,000(2017: HK$56,588,000) due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits generated are less than expected,
a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which such a reversal takes place.

Impairment of trade and other receivable

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows. The amount of the impairment loss
is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may a rise. As at 31
March 2018, the carrying amount of trade and other
receivables was approximately HK$6,990,000 (2017:
HK$21,242,000), net of allowance for doubtful debts
of approximately HK$4,889,000 (2017: HK$2,375,000).
During the year ended 31 March 2018, impairment
loss in respect of trade and other receivables of
approximately HK$4,838,000 (2017: HK$661,000) was
recognised in profit or loss.

Estimated useful lives of plant and equipment
The Group’'s management determines the estimated
useful lives, and related depreciation charges for its
plant and equipment. The estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of those
assets of similar nature and functions. Management
will increase the depreciation where useful lives are
less than previously estimated lives. It will write off or
write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic
lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic
review could result in a change in depreciable lives
and therefore affect the depreciation charges in future
periods.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4.

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Valuation of investment property

Investment property is carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 March 2018 at
its fair value of approximately HK$25,000,000 (2017:
22,500,000). The fair value was based on a valuation
on this property conducted by an independent firm
of professional valuers using property valuation
technigues which involve certain assumptions of
market conditions. Favourable or unfavourable changes
to these assumptions would result in changes in the
fair value of the Group’s investment property and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or
loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group evaluates whether goodwill and intangible
assets have suffered any impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the goodwill and intangible assets may
not be recoverable, in accordance with the stated
accounting policy. The recoverable amounts of the
goodwill and intangible assets have been determined
based on the higher of the fair value less cost of
disposal and value in calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates. No impairment of goodwill
nor intangible assets were impaired for the year ended
31 March 2018.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategies remain unchanged from prior
year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes the obligation under a finance lease
and secured bank borrowing as disclosed in notes 28
and 29 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a continuous basis taking into account the
cost of capital and the risk associated with the capital.
Based on the directors’ recommendation, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through payment of
dividend, issuance of new shares as well as the raising
of new debts or the repayment of existing debts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

5.
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(a) £@ITEEHR

2018 2017
—E-N\F — T+
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TH&T
Financial assets EMEE
Loans and receivables (including EXx&EWZIE (BFEE S K
cash and cash equivalents) HEFEW) 72,794 102,317
Financial liabilities EWMas
Financial liabilities at amortised REBEKAYEZE/RER
cost 9,741 10,183

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies
The Group's major financial instruments include
trade and other receivables, bank balances and
cash, amount due from ultimate holding company/
a substantial shareholder, trade and other
payables, obligations under a finance lease and
secured bank borrowing. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risks (currency risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has certain portion of bank balances
and cash, trade and other receivables and trade
and other payables denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Given the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the USS$,
the management does not expect that there will
be any significant currency risk associated with
such US$ denominated balances and therefore no
sensitivity analysis is presented thereon.

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the
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end of the reporting period are as follows: wm
2018 2017
“E-N\%§ —T—tF
Monetary Monetary Net Monetary Monetary Net

assets liabilities Exposure assets liabilities  Exposure
E¥EE &L%aE FRR EB¥%EE EHEKER 5 E b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000

TR FER TErT TErT TE=xn

TR
Renminbi (“RMB") ARE(TARE] 1,201
Singapore Dollars (“SGD") 03 7T 2,229
Malaysia Ringgit ("MYR")  SBRAEZRSE 559

(103) 1,098 838 (76) 762
- 2,229 3,041 (27) 3,014
- 559 4,163 = 3,163

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 5% (2017: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$
against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2017:
5%) is the sensitivity rate used when reporting
foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for a
5% (2017: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

A positive number below indicates an increase
in post- tax profit and a negative number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax profit where HK$
strengthen 5% (2017: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 5% (2017: 5%) weakening of HK$
against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit and other
equity and the balances below would be negative.

Effect on post-tax (loss)/profit:

6. TRMIA

BHEREEEEREEE)

HBE S ()

B (&)
REBTTAABIMNETHESS (—F
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AR - BB E BRI 6
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2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH T

RMB AR & 46 30
SGD Nk ot 93 126
MYR ERmISE 23 131

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate interest bearing
obligation under a finance lease (see note 28).
The Group currently does not have any interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances
and secured bank borrowing at prevailing market
rates.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of the related bank’s Hong Kong
Dollars Prime Rate (“P") arising from the Group’s
HK$ denominated borrowing.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the end
of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at
the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point (2017:
50 basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2017: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax l0ss
would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$180,000 (2017: HK$273,000).

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’'s and the
company’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties the Group and the Company is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group and the Company have
delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group and the Company review the recoverability
of each individual trade debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by authorised credit-rating
agency.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in Hong Kong,
which accounted for 86% (2017: 79%) of the total
trade receivable as at 31 March 2018.
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6. TRMIA

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2018, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as approximately Nil (2017: Nil) and
43% (2017: 35%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group's largest customer and the
five largest customers respectively.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
bank borrowings and other source of funding and
considers the risk is minimal.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Specifically, secured bank
borrowing with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless
of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the
agreed repayment dates.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from

6. TRMIA
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More than More than
one year two years
On demand but not but not Total
or within exceeding exceeding  undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years cash flows amount
RER BB-4E BAMER B RER
E-FR TRBME TRBEE BehE RESHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT BT THR THBL TR
As at 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\F
=R=1-H
Trade and other payables BARAMENTE 2,962 - - 2,962 2,962
Secured bank borrowing AERRTEE 6,689 - - 6,689 6,689
Obligation under a finance lease BARE&AE 91 - - 97 90
9,742 - - 9,742 9,741
As at 31 March 2017 RIBE—+E
=R=t-H
Trade and other payables BAREMEMNFE 4,140 - - 4,140 4,140
Secured bank borrowing BRRROEE 6,964 - - 6,964 6,964
QObligation under a finance lease  FE& T E& i 9 9 - 183 171
11,196 91 = 11,287 11,281

Secured bank borrowing with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the “on demand
or within 1 year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2018, the
aggregate undiscounted principal amounts of this
secured bank loan amounted to approximately
HK$6,689,000 (2017: HK$6,964,000). Taking
into account the Group's financial position,
the directors of the Company do not believe
that it is probable that the banks will exercise
their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors of the Company believe
that such bank borrowing will be repaid eighteen
years after the reporting date in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements. At that time, the aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows will amount to
approximately HK$8,275,000.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
The fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of current financial assets and
current financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statement
approximate their fair values due to their
immediate or short-term maturities.

7. REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue arising from design and
fitting-out service provided, sales and procurement of
furnishings and decorative materials service provided,
interest income from money lending and sale of fine
and rare wines. The Group has not commenced its
securities business during the year.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as
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follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Design and fitting-out service income AT R EAERFS WA 10,652 45,890

Design and procurement of furnishings and &=t & #1208 = AR 2%
decorative materials service income 2 4 M EHR 75 U A 4,119 5,228
Interest income from money lending HEF B WA 4,495 1,715
Sale of fine and rare wines EBEE WA 13,831 1,691

33,097 54,524
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. TEEFR

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer (the MITHRE ([TTHEH]  EELE

“CEOQ"), being the chief operating decision maker, for REEE) 2EHMA D BLEIR R G 9 P&

the purposes of resource allocation and assessment EEZiéfM%EPEéEﬁ@‘JZkT ZEmsk

of segment performance focuses on types of goods RF5ESRE - ARRESEEERZTRAMR

or services delivered or provided. The directors of BEBAREE MNEBASEZA 23

the Company have chosen to organise the Group PR - TR BB EMEREA 2

around differences in services. No operating segments rESEE BF

identified by the CEO has been aggregated in arriving at

the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating BERmE  AEBEA 2®m &L E DI

segments are as follows: S

(@) Provision of design and fitting-out service (“Design (@) REFZEREERD ([FEFRE
and fitting-out service”); ER%])

(b) Provision of design and procurement of (b) Tmﬁ&ﬁ&%ﬁ%ilﬁ[ﬁ & N 5 i
furnishings and decorative materials service MEHR % ([3% Jr&%m%?éﬁﬂl‘%&
(“Design and procurement of furnishings and SRR )
decorative materials service”);

(c) Money lending (“Money lending”); (© mEAKED

(d) Sourcing and merchandising of fine and rare wines d) =HHEBB(EHEERBD R
("Wines merchandising”); and

(e) Securities business (“Securities business”). () BHEB(BHHEK]) -

Segment revenue and results o EB U = R ¥R

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and UTAREBE WD MEFZI 2R ELK

results by reportable and operating segment: B EIEL 2 DT

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-_Z—N\G=B=+—HLEE

Design and
procurement
of furnishings
Design and and decorative B
fitting-out materials Money Wines  Securities
service service lending merchandising husiness Total
RitRiRE
FHEEE  ERARRR o
B RETHRE HE EHER REER i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TEn TEn TER TER
Segment revenue pan G
10,652 4119 4,495 13,831 - 33,097

Segment prafit/loss) AER/ (B8) (17,473) (3,.263) 4,372 (585) (1,125) (18,074)

Other income Al 730

Central administration costs HAAHHA (12,984)

Increase in fair value of REMELTEEN

an investment property 2,500

Finance costs HERA (161)

Loss before tax BRitaiER (27,989)
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2017

TEER @)
DM AR EE (E)
BE-"E—+H-A=+—RAIEE

Design and

procurement

of furnishings

Designand  and decorative

fitting-out materials Money Wines

service service lending  merchandising Total

KRR

Ktk ERRER
Bl REMEES M EHEE st
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T T AL AL AL
Segment revenue HHkE 15,890 5228 1,715 1,60 54,524
Segment profit/(loss) PR/ (58) (17,665) 816 1,671 (730 (15,908)
Other income £k A 691
Central administration costs RRTEKAE (19,740)
Increase in fair value of an investment property  REME A FEEM 120
Finance costs HERE (185)
Loss before tax BHmES (35,022)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment
profit/(loss) represents the profit/(loss) earned by each
segment without allocation of other income, central
administration costs (including directors’ emoluments),
increase in fair value of an investment property and
finance costs. This is the measure reported to the
CEO for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

REDH <G BREMA 2 AEEE
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TR TR AR 2 A D BB IR Mt &R
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. HER 2
Segment assets and liabilities HEERAE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and EiREmkgeEnHel oz EER
liabilities by reportable and operating segment: DT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Segment assets DHEE
Design and fitting-out service Fat RS RS 6,031 20,193
Design and procurement of furnishings T R PR E AR AR
and decorative materials service 2 a0 IR 75 1,741 5,580
Money lending W& 24,227 26,080
Wines merchandising e 1,467 8,560
Securities business B 5 EB 19,813 -
Total segment assets moHEE 53,279 60,413
Unallocated corporate assets AOBREEEE 70,886 90,437
Total assets 4B E 124,165 150,850
Segment liabilities SHEE
Design and fitting-out service JEt REFERE 1,076 1,151
Design and procurement of furnishings RET MR E AR
and decorative materials service 2 8BRS 409 887
Money lending BE 218 -
Wines merchandising e 27 -
Securities business BHE 3,193 =
Total segment liabilities moHasE 4,923 2,038
Unallocated corporate liabilities ROEEEBE 8,458 10,224
Total liabilities BwaE 13,381 12,262
For the purpose of monitoring segment performance

and allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than certain plant and equipment,
investment property, certain prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, amount due
from a substantial shareholder, tax recoverable
and bank balances and cash as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than certain accrued expenses and other
payables, obligation under a finance lease, income
tax payable, secured bank borrowing and certain
deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are
managed on a group basis.

RERDHBRARDEEDHERM
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. "HER =)
Other segment information Hit o HER
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BE-Z-N\F=ZA=+—HLFE
Design and
procurement
of furnishings
Design and and decorative
fitting-out  materials Money Wines  Securities
service service lending merchandising  business  Unallocated Total
FHREB
ERRER
R RHiH
EBRE % K& BHEE BEEE AOR &3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEn TEn THR THRL TER TER
Amounts included in ~ BERES BERE
the measure of PTHEENSE:
segment profit or loss
or segment assets:
Writtenoffof trade and ~ EBREMERR
other receivables L 135 534 - - - - 669
Impairment [0S on BARNFEHERS
trade receivables 3915 923 - - - - 4,838
Reversal of impairment loss 2 5 & &t/ 308
of trade and REEREE
other receivables (43) - - - - - (43)
Amounts regularly EHRTRARRE
provided to the CEO  EREBERSH
but not included in the EXHHEE
measure of segment  HENSHE:
profit or loss or
segment assets:
Increase in fair value of K EMEATELEN
an investment property - - - - - (2,500) (2,500)
Depreciation of plantand ~ BE RR BN E
equipment 453 1 - 22 - 386 1,362
Additions to plant and REBEREE
equipment 1,136 1,274 - 13 - 23 2,446
Bank interest income RITHIEMA - - - - - (67) (67)
Finance costs RERK - - - - - 161 161
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 8. THER =
Other segment information (Continued) Hit o BER (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE_Z—tF=-A=+—HILFE
Design and
procurement
of fumishings
Designand  and decorative
fitting-out materials Money Wines
service Service lending  merchandising ~ Unallocated Total
Fit ki
RREE  ERARRR
B RHMHERE M EHER AOR fazt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL AL AL AL AL AL
Amounts included in the measure BN EABEH
of segment profit or loss or PHEENSE:
segment assets:
Impairment loss on trade receivables & 5 EMFEREEE 661 - - - = 661
Reversal of impairment loss of BARAMENE
trade and other receivables REEREE (50) - - - - (50)
Amounts regularly provided to ~ ERRTRARAE
the CEO but not included in the  #RATER
measure of segment profitor ~ AHERAIBEE
loss or segment assets: TEMEE:
Increase in fair value of REMEATEEN
an investment property - - - - (120) (120)
Impairment loss on amount due SENAELFFE
from a joint venture HEBE - - - - 35 35
Depreciation of plant and equipment B Rk B E 297 1 - 5 801 1,104
Additions to plant and equipment  FEHEREE - - - 51 990 1,041
Bank interest income RITHIEMA = = = = @ @
Finance costs RERK - - - - 185 185
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information
The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and

the PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers is
presented based on the location of the operations and
information about its non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets as

detailed below:

8.

TEER @)
i = & R
A E BB o B E

AEEEBINBEL ZWMADENEE
WEE > MIERDEEZHBEER R
ERZEEZHMBAEZIWOT -

Revenue from

external customers

Non-current assets

RENMBEFZBA ERBEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\E T—+tF ZB-NE Z—ZT—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERx FHET FERT FHET
Hong Kong B8 33,097 54,524 49,795 24,741
PRC a3 - - 5 6
33,097 54,524 49,800 24,747

Information about major customers FTEEFZER

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are

B 5 7 4R D4 R34 8 10% A £ 19
BEARIT :

as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH& T
Customer A2 BEA2 8,042 -
Customer B? = FB? 4,245 -
Customer C' g =Toll N/AT i 4 24,602
Customer D' ZED N/AT B A4 6,661
Customer E"2 BPE!2 N/ATE A 5,972

i Revenue from Design and fitting-out services

z Revenue from Design and procurement of furnishings and
decorative materials service

3 Revenue from Wine merchandising

& The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of

the total revenue of the Group

' KB Rt RS IR RO Y aa

2 KA R A R ER S = AR R M 5 H AR AR
e W as

: REEHFEN Y

‘ Z B RA YL R B RSB AFE B
7,2 10% LA
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9.

10.

OTHER INCOME 9. Hitlk A
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —F—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Bank interest income HRATH B U A 67 4
Reversal of impairment loss in respect of & 5 K £ th g Yg 7118
trade and other receivables (note 23) BB B E (Ff5E23) 43 50
Rental income e WA 624 637
Exchange gain N =5 154 -
Sundry income WA 71 50
959 741
An analysis of the Group's net rental income is as REBHS WA FEDTMAT :
follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx T
Gross rental income He WA LR 624 637
Less: outgoings (included in administrative & : & (Gt AfTHBEIX)
expenses) (357) (121)
267 516
FINANCE COSTS 10. @& B A<
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interests on: LATR&I8 2 F) 8
— bank borrowings —RTTEE 157 178
- obligations under a finance lease —FEEEAE 4 /
161 185
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 11. A EBHREAX
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT TATT
current tax: A ERFR IR -
Hong Kong BB 131 206
Over provision in prior years: BT R BT
Hong Kong BB - (194)
Singapore TN (27) -
Deferred tax (note 30) iR IR I8 (P 5E30)
Current year RNEE _ _
Income tax expense for the year REFFEHALZ 104 12

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% on the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI”), the Group is not subject to any
income tax in the BVI.

No Singapore Corporate Tax has been provided as there
is no estimated assessable profit for both years.

The PRC corporate income tax in respect of operations
in Mainland China is calculated at the applicable tax
rates on the estimated assessable profits for the
year based on existing legislation, interpretations and
practices in respect thereof.

The PRC tax law imposes a withholding tax at 10%,
unless reduced by a tax treaty, for dividends distributed
by PRC subsidiaries to its immediate holding company
outside the PRC for earnings generated beginning on 1
January 2008.

BB NS B Lt R’ 8 2 /0 fh EF B AR
i3 MR T R 16.5%=T IR B 8 ©

MR A5 25 B BE 2 AE B mO AR B FDE B - A&
B BRI N B R X B SRR S
I8 o

F A N 6% B 10 % AR 4F I 4 0 3 DR EE
ERRABEA - MA RN ERE M BFHRE
R IN IR A 1S AR R4

BRTBEAREXELEPBEIEMSG
BMERERITAG - 2B R BRIESH
AEE[AERRBGNIRBEATRGTE

B-ZTN\F—A— B BRIFRE
WIS RA) T LA A - AR BIBOE AR E 7+ B
MEBomEEEENMFAEPBEIRINE
BRER AR DRI SBMMA10%TAIH -
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1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Deferred taxation has not been provided in the

11. R £

SHE X #)
R 2 B A U S A 2 R
M MEZEREZEBAIENATR

consolidated financial statements in respect of the
temporary difference attributable to retained profits of
the PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and

it is probable that the temporary differences will not =7

release in the foreseeable future.

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

*XT\@@J% > E U B BIP & A )
D IRRE AT B ERIEER 28
F'f? LIERG IR IR B RAR

BMBWERPE

AEERAXNAGS Bn M EBERE
o 2 R 5 P R BR

BRI AIEE 2 S BRIT

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABT
Loss before tax B AT ES 18 (27,989) (35,022)
Tax expense at rates applicable to AR B AR [ i A
profits in the jurisdiction concerned MERAE 2 BN (4,703) (5,842)
Tax effect of income not taxable for RIRBMAZ S &
tax purpose (525) (20)
Tax effect of expenses not AAHBIERAS 2
deductible for tax purpose WMiET £ 770 79
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERATREREZRE 2
differences not recognised Mg & (24) 35
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERMIEEIE 2
R 5 2 2 4,643 6,022
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised RIERTIEEE 2 &R - (48)
Over provision in prior years BEFEBBREEG (27) (194)
Effect of tax exemptions granted (note) Fri& 2 L IB R & 2
2 (M) (30) (20)
Income tax expense for the year FEMEBHAXZ 104 12

Details of deferred tax liabilities are set out in note 30.

Note: Tax exemptions represented reduction of Hong Kong Bt 5E

profits tax for the year of assessment 2017/2018 by
75% (2016/2017: 75%), subject to a ceiling of HK$30,000
(2016/2017: HK$20,000) per case and exemptions of
Singapore income tax for the year of assessment 2016/2017

and 2017/2018 at regressive rate.

EXEHRBRABZFBEEIINHIEEI0

BREREN-_ZT—t /= "*/\p%a"f#
ERH %\Jﬁm%ums% —-=F /\/
—tERBEE : 75% 1l1 %m
%8 530,000 T (ZF—X,/ =T —tR
HEE 20,000/%7@ MmFMER ==
— RN/ CE L RBHEER B+
ZE - \RBREEZRBEBEAUIZIR
T o



12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year has been arrived at after
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12. FEEE

AEERAFEZEREEHBKRTIE

charging: 18 :
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH T
Salaries and wages included in project HFehIE
costs (BRERIEEBKAF) - 779
Salaries and wages included in HekITE
administrative expenses: (BERITHRASF)
Directors’ emoluments (note 13) X2/ (FI5E13) 4,906 3,822
Salaries, wages and other benefits Fe  LERHMER
(excluding directors’ emoluments) (TEREEEHNE) 11,688 7,844
Contribution to defined contribution FE SR IKAR TS
retirement benefits scheme MR (TBIEES)
(excluding directors) 305 275
16,899 12,720
Depreciation e 1,362 1,104
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 24 B B & 550 450
Written off of trade and Z 5 Rk H M EK
other receivables FKIE 2 M sH 669 -
Impairment loss on trade and B 5 & H b fE 5K I8
other receivables (note 23) Z R EEE (MfsE23) 4,838 661
Impairment loss on amount MIEN & B EFKIE
due from a joint venture MBS - 356
Minimum lease payments under BERAEYMEL
operating leases in respect of KEHEREES
office premises 1,751 3,518
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EZ=R{THARH S

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 7 (2017: 9) B NkENMTFI(ZE—+tF:9)M =
directors and the chief executive were as follows: EMTHEAENMES T :
2018
ZE-N\%
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and other benefits
Fees benefits schemes Total
Hed BRER
ER At ER HE L @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THER THER TEx
Executive Directors: YnESs:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen REREE - 2,080 35 2,115
Mr. Liu Rongsheng RERE - 960 18 978
Mr. Wang Jun TERE - 240 - 240
Non-executive Director: FYTES:
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong BEERE - 1,185 18 1,203
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHTES
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex o it 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao RERE 120 - - 120
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vast £ 120 - - 120

Total @t 370 4,465 1Al 4,906
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13.EBRITHARME @)

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

2017
“E—tfF
Contributions
Salaries  to retirement
and other benefits
Fees henefits schemes Total
il RINEA
ER At ER HEGEN @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn T THT FhL
Executive Directors: BTES:
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BEELE - 1,654 27 1,681
Mr. Liu Rongsheng LSk - 1,040 18 1,058
Mr. Wang Jun ITERE
(appointed on 23 February 2017) (R=B—+E-A-+=RZH) = 2 = yl
Mr. Fok Chun Kit ERERE
(resigned on 28 April 2016) (RZB-—RERAZTN\HEE) - 53 2 55
Non-executive Director: FHTES !
Mr. Tsang Kei Cheong =t - 621 18 639
Independent non-executive Directors: BUFHTES:
Mr. Chan Chiu Hung Alex il e 130 - - 130
Mr. Wu Zhao REEE 16 - - 16
Mr. Lam Cheok Va Lam Cheok Vat &
(appointed on 28 April 2016) (RZE-7~"EBA-TNBZA) 1 - - M
Mr. Lu Tak Ming EEALE
(resigned on 28 April 2016) (R=Z-7~"EmA=TNBET) 8 - - 8
Total #t 365 3,392 65 3,822
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13.

14.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13.EERTHAZMS o)
EMOLUMENTS (continued)
Their emoluments were within the following bands: e T TEE :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AEHE AEE S
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0-1,000,0007% 7T 5 7
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% JT—
1,500,00078 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 o~
2,000,000 J© - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0017% JT—
2,500,0007% 7T 1 =
7 9

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors
waived any emoluments in the year ended 31 March
2018 and 2017.

No emoluments represent the payments to a
management service company in respect of directors’
services in connection with management of the affairs
of the Group.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, three (2017: two) were directors of the Group
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in
note 13 above. The emoluments of the remaining two
(2017: three) individuals were as follows:

14.

Hz_Z—-N\Ek-_FT—+F=H
=+—HLEFE  THRRARKEMNES
) 2R U E W EE T B & -

BMEAETEEAEEEHM N EE
RIF AR E -

B S M <
£ BEMEeRSOHAE AR - £H3
(ZE—tF D) ABEXEEES  H
e EXMEI1I3TIHE - Hep2 (=F
—EF ) AT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —EF—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TH&T

Salaries and other benefits Fre MEMbEF 3,696 2,957
Contributions to retirement benefits BIREF T 50

schemes 36 54

3,732 3,011
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14. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (continued) 14. EEME &)
Their emoluments were within the following bands: MeNFoTEE :
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AEEE AB# =
Nil to HK$1,000,000 0-1,000,0007 T 1 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ JT—
1,500,000 7T - 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017% Jo—
3,000,000/ JT. 1 =
2 3
DIVIDEND 15. R E

16.

No dividend was paid or proposed during the years
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, nor has any dividend
been proposed since the end of the reporting period. 8

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on

the following data:

iy

oY
n
X /& ©

16. B E 18

=z

[

BT AR R E -

RBE-F—\ER-F—+t5=A
=+t- AL FERARN R DR
AHEEIARE - SRR

AREERANREERREEZBRE

Loss 18
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss for the purpose of basic TERERNEFEE
and diluted loss per share mE 2 EiE (28,093) (35,034)
Number of shares B3 2 H
2018 2017
—E-N\E&E —E—+F
‘000 ‘000
T T B
Weighted average number of ordinary MERERREFEIE
shares for the purpose of basic and msE 2 Edkhn
diluted loss per share hn#E 15 £ 363,000 354,411
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16. LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 16. B % Eﬁ?ﬁ@%)
Loss per share ’Eﬂﬁ B
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK cents HK cents
AL B
Basic and diluted HEAR#E (7.74) (9.89)
Since there were no potential dilutive shares in issue HRREZE—_E—\FER_ZT—+F=
during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, basic A=t—HLEFEAMEELTHEEE %
and diluted loss per share are the same for both years. TR - Bt B R K88 T A% B 18 A 4
A o
17. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. B E R &H1E
Leasehold Furniture Office Motor
improvements  and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HENELE RANECEE BLAERE RE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL THT THT THT
COST OR VALUATION B A {48
At 1 April 2016 RZE—X"EMA—H 1,681 563 993 646 3,883
Additions NE - 308 37 696 1,041
At31March 2017 and RZZE—+4%
1 April 2017 ZR=+-Bk
“Z—tENA—H 1,681 871 1,030 1,342 4,924
Additions NE 1,070 1,287 89 - 2,446
Exchange realignment  [& i, 58 #& - 1 - - 1
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-NEF
=A=1+—H 2,751 2,159 1,119 1,342 7,371
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 April 2016 R=E—R~EMA—H 481 135 543 414 1,573
Charge forthe year — AFEEXH 498 200 143 263 1,104
At31March2017and RZE—+%F
1 April 2017 ZRA=+-Bk
“E—+EMA—H 979 335 686 677 2,677
Charge for the year ~ AEEXH 534 407 141 280 1,362
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\¥
ZA=1-H 1,513 742 827 957 4,039
CARRYING VALUES FEE
At 31 March 2018 WZE-N5F
=A=1+—H 1,238 1,417 292 385 3,332

At 31 March 2017 “E—+F
E A=1+—H 702 536 344 665 2,247
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18.
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17.BERRE =)

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

The carrying value of motor vehicles of approximately
HK$385,000 (2017: HK$665,000) includes an amount
of approximately HK$100,000 (2017: HK$143,000) in
respect of asset held under a finance lease.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

e BHRRME

—N\F=ZRA=t+—HLFE

YT EE A BR M B 49 A385,000/ T (=
—t % : 665,000 7T)  BIERERE
A EHAE#100,0008 T (ZE—+F :
143,000/ ) & =

18. REWMHE

Total
ot
HK$'000
3BT

FAIR VALUE NSO
At 1 April 2016 N—_E—"FMNA—H 22,380
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss MBI ERZ A FEE N 120
At 31 March 2017 RZZE—+tF=A=+—H 22,500
Increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss MBI ERZ A FEIE N 2,500
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—-—NF=A=+—H 25,000

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at
31 March 2018 has been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on that date by Peak Vision
Appraisals Limited (“PVA"), an independent qualified
professional valuers not connected with the Group. PVA
is a member of the Institute of Surveyors. The valuation
was arrived at by market prevailing market rents for
comparable properties in the same location and condition,
expected future market rents and appropriate discount
rates, market prices if appropriate. Details of the valuation
techniques and assumptions are discussed below.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest
and best use of the properties is their current use.

All of the Group’'s property interests held under
operating leases to earn rentals purposes are measured
using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment property.

The Group’s investment property has been pledged to
secure banking facilities granted to the Group.

The investment property is measured subsequent to
initial recognition at fair value of Level 2 based on the
degree to which the inputs to fair value measurement
are observable. There were no transfers between levels
of fair value hierarchy during the year.

REBREWENR _T—-NF=A
=t —BZ RV EHEARNEEYL EREE
Zﬁiﬁéﬁ%%%%@ﬁﬂi SEFEER

Al (DR ) RZBREEREERE
/Eﬁﬁi?/%/ﬁljiﬁﬁi%@@% - fH{EHZ
ZRE—EAMAR T ALY EN EET
LM% BRFARMSEE FEE T

IR \‘ééf-ﬁﬁ’]m%{ﬁﬂfé e i ER
ﬁﬁ&{g n$| n—_r ZZD—FO
TERErZMEZRATER - ZYEE A

ZRBRERRRRERR

AEBEFRARELEHERB ARDE
ERBZREME AR FEREAG
B UDBERINEREYE -

AEE 2 HREMEERAURBEAKHE
RITHAE o

BREMERNRERRIZARFEFE
ZEABBNABREREERERNE —
MAFEFE - RAFER - FAFE
JE A 2 F) 3 S S 5 o
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18.

19.

—N\F=RA=t+—RHLFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of the investment property as at 31 March 2018
is determined (in particular, the valuation technigues
and inputs used):

18. REME )
TR ETH T N\E=A=+—
B RAmEy AFEZER (RES
FF 6 B 2 M [ 5 1 R IR )

Fair value
as at
Fair value 31 March
hierarchy 2018 Valuation technique and key inputs
R=Z-—N\F
=HA=+-—H
ANFEER ZATE HEETREEZEZHE
HK$'000
FHET
Investment property  Level 2 25,000 Investment Method of valuation
— by reference to market prevailing market
rents for comparable properties in the same
location and condition, expected future
market rents and appropriate discount
rates, market prices if appropriate.
WA FER ®EGEE
— 2 ER—MBFMA T A LM ERN L BT
e  BRFARRMISHEE REEMITHE X
R ERTISERESL -
GOODWILL 19. HE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH T
As at 1 April RMUA—H - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 33) g B8 — I B B8 2 =] (B$7E33) 854 -
As at 31 March R=A=+—H 854 =
Goodwill acquired through business combination has BBREBEMHUBE L HEEIEERS
been allocated to the securities business segment. EBHEL -
The Group has appointed an independent qualified REBEZE 2B UAEREEME

professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited
to perform its annual impairment test for goodwill
allocated to the securities business segment cash
generating unit by comparing its recoverable
amount to its carrying amount as at the end of the
reporting period. The recoverable amount of the cash
generating-unit is determined based on the fair value
less costs of disposal by reference to comparable.
Management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment of goodwill for the year ended 31 March
2018.

%E%ﬁﬁﬁ@ BRSO TESFE
BoRReEELEEN 2 EKESEHE
HHNREHARCREE S 8ET
FEBERR ° ﬁi?i%ﬁmT%@
A%EﬁﬁN%W Tm&%*“
—A¢5H5+—E¢¢§'$%E%
BEETMERERE -
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 20. B EE
Cross-
boundary
Securities vehicle
licences licence Total
B
EH MR ==y st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT AT
Cost: N
At 31 March 2017 R_ZT—+F
and 1 April 2017 =Z=A=+—H8Xk
—ZT—+FWMA—H - = =
Acquisition of assets through FRWE—FEHB AR
acquisition of a subsidiary BABE
(note 34) (Pt 5E34) - 1,876 1,876
Acquisition of a subsidiary g il D= /NE)
(note 33) (P 5E33) 18,738 - 18,738
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—N\F
—A=+—8H 18,738 1,876 20,614
Accumulated impairment REIBEEE
losses:
At 31 March 2017, 1 April R-ZZT—tF
2017 and 31 March 2018 =A=+—H8"
—E—+tFMA—ABK
—E—N\F
=RA=+—H - - -
Carrying value: BRTEE
As at 31 March 2018 RZE—N\F
=H=+—H 18,738 1,876 20,614
As at 31 March 2017 RZE—tF=
A=+—H = = =
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20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The intangible assets represent (i) the licences (the “SFO
Licences”) to carry on Type 1 (Trading of securities),
Type 4 (Advising on securities) and Type 9 (Asset
management) activities under the Securities and
Futures ordinance (“SFO") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and (ii) the cross-boundary vehicle licence.

SFO Licences

The Group has appointed an independent qualified
professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, to
perform an appraisal of the value of the SFO Licences as
at 31 March 2018. The recoverable amount of intangible
asset has been determined based on the fair value less
cost of disposal by reference to comparables.

No impairment of the SFO Licences has been provided
as the recoverable amount of the SFO Licences was
higher than its carrying amount as at 31 March 2018.

The cross-boundary vehicle licence

The Group has appointed an independent qualified
professional valuer, Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, to
perform an appraisal of the value of the cross-boundary
vehicle licence as at 31 March 2018. The recoverable
amount of intangible asset has been determined on
the basis of value in use calculation. The value in
use calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management from
2019 to 2023 by applying average growth rate of 3%
in market rental and a discount rate of 11.1%. Cash
inflows/outflows have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations for the
market development.

No impairment of the cross-boundary vehicle licence
has been provided as the recoverable amount of the
cross-boundary vehicle licence was higher than its
carrying amount as at 31 March 2018.

208 EE &)

& ( ;
7 AR R A ([ 58 %5 JIDR-NN
FR(BEHEE) AR GLEREHR
BERIRFR(BEEER) AFHHER
%ﬁ%&i@%ﬂ% JI R 5 1) R (i) 7 = 4

&5 R E 5 R
AEBERE - RBIY S EREXEE
ER R EBR AR E S R AEEH
RN - N\F=A=1+—"HNE TE
AT SR - ﬁiﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁé%%i‘“
gtt\&&*“ﬂzfﬁfﬁﬁﬂj%ﬁkzﬁﬂ’]—wﬁ
R o

RN_F—\F= HE—I-—EI'EE‘%&HH
EfI%T§UH$HEZEI B K AR

%

78 E5 B R AR

AEBEZE—FBILAEREEMGE
B S2FT (A R A Al R B E g RN
—E- NF=ZA=+—HBREEET
1E°3ﬁﬁ/§§E’JTH§Z@/£§EE§EM§ﬁH
BEFEmMET FHEBEFEERE
REREHEN T -—NLFE_T_=
FHPRFEEETRIRG RIEA - B
SHEWAFRTFEIBIEERE - KIT
WERI1% - BERARETERB
ARBEREEEYHMSERNTERET -

RF—-N\F=F=4—H FBEER
Rz eESNEKREE  HE
EP;%EEMEH’E’AEM i o
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21. LOAN RECEIVABLES

21. EIRE R

2018 2017
R-ZE— /AT — B ER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FBT
Current mE 24,227 26,080
Non-current JERED - -
24,227 26,080

Analyzed as: DT
With one year —F R 24,227 26,080
24,227 26,080
2018 2017
—E-N\F —EF—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loan receivables JE U B 3R 23,500 24,500
Interest receivables FEWF B 727 1,580
24,227 26,080

At as 31 March 2018, the loan receivables are
unsecured. The Group's loan and interest receivables,
which arise from the money lending business in Hong
Kong, are denominated in Hong Kong dollar. Loan
receivables are interest-bearing and are repayable
with fixed terms agreed with the Group’s customers.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at each of the
reporting dates is the carrying value of the receivables
mentioned above.

All of the loan receivables are neither past due nor
impaired at the end of reporting period. Included in
the interest receivables, none (2017: HK$923,000) of
which are past due but not impaired at the end of
reporting period, the directors were of the opinion
that no provision for impairment on these individual
loans was necessary as these interest receivables were
substantially/fully settled subsequent to the reporting
period or there had not been a significant change in
credit quality that these balances were still considered
fully recoverable. The credit quality of loan and interest
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired has
been assessed by reference to historical information
about counterparty default rates. The existing
counterparties do not have defaults in the past.

REER ARERKERRMEKE
REBRBEENER - XUBTAE -
U ERBFTEANERARERESHEE
METERRAERE - REHmE A HAE
AV RAEERR - &SR E KR
THRRREE -

PTB W E RN | E ARG KA IR
BAE - BERERFEH - ERE R
HE@HERRERE(ZT—LF:
923,00087T) - HRAFREFEER
BERRARD BEREHEELS
VWESANE ZEERDERBATER
gl MEERABERUEELNE
FAEL B ERE - RARTARENE
WEFRFENEEERT2EFHY
FHENENBEERETHE - RE
RSFTBELEBLHRLEE
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22. INVENTORIES 22. FE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAEIT
Fine and rare wines held for resale, BEHE RN - AT BR
at cost 1,408 8,032
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES B EZRHEMEKKE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBx FH T
Trade receivables B 5 WG IE 5,860 17,097
Less: Allowance for impairment of BB S EWGIE
trade receivables Ve RIEREL ] (4,889) (2,295)
Net trade receivables B 5 WG IE R 971 14,802
Retention money receivables FEBURE © 58 1,844 80
Less: Allowance for impairment of B RBUREE &R
retention money receivables B - (80)
Net retention money receivables FEUW R BB 58 558 1,844 -
Deposit paid for investment project BEfEEEEZS
(note (1)) (B =E(0)) - 4,125
Deposit, prepayment and Ze  ENRER
advance to suppliers e £ JE P A 5K 4,088 1,173
Other receivables H i fE YR TE 87 1,142
Total trade and other receivables B 5 Rk E A EWGIE R 6,990 21,242
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.ESREMERRE#)

(Continued)
Note:

(i) On 7 September 2016, the Group, through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(the “SPA") with an independent third party (the “Vendor”),
pursuant to which the Group has agreed to acquire the
entire issued share capital in a company (the “Target”) with
licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ”").

Pursuant to the SPA, a refundable deposit in the sum of
HK$4,125,000 has been paid to the Vendor. In the event that
the approval from the Securities and Futures Commission
in respect of the change in substantial shareholder of the
Target is not granted on or before 31 August 2017 or such
later date as mutually agreed in writing, the SPA shall cease
and terminate, and the Vendor shall forthwith refund the
above deposit.

The acquisition of the Target has completed on 21
September 2017.

The Group allows an average credit period ranging from
30 to 180 day to its trade customers. The following is
an aged analysis of trade receivables net of allowance
for impairment of trade receivables presented based
on the invoice date, which approximates the respective
revenue recognition dates, at the end of the reporting
period.

GEE

iy AEBCER-—2EBEAZMERF)
REE-—RFNALRE-BIE=T]
(TERD#ET-—BEEHB= (EEH
#1)  REZWE  ARERBRE K
B-ERAREEFrRBEGH((ES
REREIEDI]) 1 - 4RI E E S
Rz AR ([BRAR ) 2HEBTRD -

RIEE B - 7R IER] £4,125,0007%
TEXHFEA MR =F—tF/\A
=+t BAEBRCAIRESEABTE L
BEBBHLREREFEEZARIZEES
BRRESESZSFRBEEHEREZE
eHHE AEEHREBSEILEREK
1E - T E A AR E ISR T BE RN A& £k
FIEIRIE -

BRARZKBER T —LtFNA
“+t—BEK-

AEBEMEE HREFIEMEAH30E180
BREZFEHEEDS - LT ARFER
RIZBZEAH (ESE 2 REERBH
i) 2 2B S RKAKBEEHNRE S
FEUR B R (B B 2 BRI D AT

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TABT

Within 30 days 30BN 12 6,482
More than 30 days but within 90 days HB#E30H B R0 AR - 2,717
More than 90 days but within 180 days  #BiE90H B 180H A K - 1,538
More than 180 days but within 365 days #8:8180H 1B A365H LA A - 8
More than 365 days @365 H 959 4,057
971 14,802

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balances
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$959,000 (2017: HK$6,005,000) which
are past due as at the end of the reporting period
for which the Group has not provided for impairment
loss because there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and they are still considered as
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

AEBZEZRWRBESRTRER
ARTEE R 49959,0008 7T (Z T — 4 :
6,005,000/ 7T ) 2 FE Y 18 15 A SRIB R $
SHREINH  MAKE W RSUIETT
MERBERE  WIRREEEERY
ARERBEBANE - DR ZAIE - K
SEYRALFERTEEMNERS -
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. B 5 R E A EWEIE &)

(Continued)

The aged analysis of trade receivables which are past
due but not impaired is set out below:

DA T A B S RO B2 55 6 M
B T ¢

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FH T

Within 30 days 30HA - 577
More than 30 days but within 90 days HBiB308 B R90R LA A - 1,350
More than 90 days B 3E90H 959 4,078
959 6,005

The movement in the allowance for impairment of trade
and other receivables is set out below:

B 5 % 2 8 RO (B 5 2 2 B
T

2018 2017

—E2-N\E —T—+F

HK$000 HK$'000

FTHET T

At the beginning of the financial year B B E A 2,375 1,834
Impairment losses recognised R EEE 4,838 661
Amount written off as uncollectible LIRS EIE Q= & (2,281) (70)
Impairment loss reversed BB EE R (43) (50)
At the end of the financial year BB B R 4,889 2,375

Included in the allowance for impairment of trade
and other receivables are individually impaired trade
and other receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$4,889,000 (2017: HK$2,375,000) which
had been long outstanding. The individually impaired
trade and other receivables are recognised based on
the credit history of its customers, such as financial
difficulties or default in payments, and current market
conditions.

B MEMBRKRBRERETEED
BHZENERNDREE S K EME
W kI8 - B ER#94,889,0008 T (=&
— % : 2,375,000/ 7T) ° bt ZE @RI E
HMEZS REBEKRBEERESR
FREERS - Plmit 8RBTk TR
% RBITMIBERIERER
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.EZ R HMEWRIE#)
(Continued)
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are B REMEURFECEEENATIE
denominated in the following currencies: ¥5IE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
HKS$ BT 6,427 18,035
RMB AR #& 4 4
Malaysia Ringgit (“MYR") BRALRSE 559 3,163
us$ ETT - =
Singapore Dollars (“SGD") ¥ NI T - 40
6,990 21,242
AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) 24 B (B BEFEHNIRE

CUSTOMERS FOR CONTRACT WORK

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH T
Contracts in progress at the end of RBEIHRZETHELY
the reporting period
Contract costs incurred plus recognised B EE 4 & 4N i 2 #E R
profits less recognised losses Y AR B T AR B 1R 68,827 214,284
Less: Progress billings W REERAZR (68,830) (204,731)
At the end of the financial year R BFEER (3) 9,553
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BMEBN MO A :
Amounts due from customers for JEWEFEE 4 TERIE
contract work 163 10,072
Amounts due to customers for ERNEFPE&HIIERIE
contract work (166) (519)
(3) 9,553
There are no retentions held by customers for contract REZB-N\ER_F—LFEER - BE
works and advances received from customers for TRREPRES KB -

contract work at the end of 2018 and 2017.
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25. AMOUNT DUE FROM A SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER

25. B —BXTERRAE

2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —E—+tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
=g FHET T T
Amount due from a substantial e — % £ B R FKIE
shareholder
Genius Idea Holdings Limited Genius Idea Holdings
Limited (i) - 5
Note: Bt :

(i) The amount was non-trading in nature which was
considered as a quasi-loan provided by a subsidiary of the
Company. The amount was unsecured, interest-free and

repayable on demand.

26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND BANK

BALANCES AND CASH
Pledged bank deposit

Pledged bank deposit represents deposit pledged to
bank to secure banking facilities granted to the Group
and carries fixed interest rate at 0.15% (2017: 0.15%) per

annum.

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the
Group and short-term bank deposits with maturity
within three months from initial inception. Bank
balances carried interest at market rates ranging from
0.01% to 0.1% (2017: 0.01% to 0.1%) per annum during
the year ended 31 March 2018. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent

history of default.

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash are

) ZEREBFEZULE BRAEXRFM

BRAREZEIERR ZEERK

i e
° B& ~T

FOREEM 2B RAREREER -

26. B EFRITERUKRERIT

mBEREAL
BERRTER

EERRTERRRARTERZF
R MMESAEBERRITERE ER

o B ETEF R X015% (=&

F :0.15%) 5T & °
BITESBRES

—t

RITEHRMACERBAKERE 2R
e hERNABA=EA NI HZEH
RITER - |RITEBRIRBE—_F N
FZA=1T—BLFERZEMHSFHNEX
T HR0.01%Z0.1% (ZF —+ % : 0.01%
£0.1%) 5T B - RITERIIEFHRRNBRE

B BT HI BB R AL Bk 2 SRAT ©

SRITEE RIES ~ BEEE I T 5 &5

denominated in the following currencies: B :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
HKS$ BT 36,365 56,477
RMB AR 1,197 834
SGD 2N TT 2,229 3,001
usbD E7T 1,779 8
Others HAh 7 7
41,577 60,327
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PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH (continued)

The conversion of RMB-denominated balances into
foreign currencies and the remittance of such foreign
currencies denominated bank balances and cash out of
the PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulation of
the foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

e BHRRME

—N\F=ZRA=t+—HLFE

26. BEMRITERURRIT

E8RRBE 2

AR M A 3 S 48 1 S
RTEBEESE R NE AN
R kSN B 596 2 AR R A Bl Bk AR -

27. B R HMEMAFIE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHEx T
Trade payables E%ﬂﬁﬁ?&lﬁ 582 1,519
Receipt in advances T8 UK 263 1,523
Accrued expenses and other payables ‘Jrﬁfﬁiﬁﬁ{‘lﬁﬁ’iﬁm 2,117 1,098
2,962 4,140
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables NTARVBEEREZEZHHET] -
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the B o RN HIE R DT
reporting period.
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+t4F
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30BN 28 627
More than 30 days but within 90 days HBB30HBR90H AR 189 194
More than 90 days B0 H 365 698
582 1,519
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 ﬁﬁ)&i\éu%;?iﬂ;%ﬂﬂﬁB o AREE
days. The Group has financial risk management policies BEOZEBERERIRBHERAE R
in place to ensure that all payables are settled within NFEEREERRAEE -

the credit timeframe.

Included in trade and other payables in the consolidated
statements of financial position are mainly the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entities to which they relate:

REMBKA RN E 5 & E b fE R
HRBEZHETHEE (MIELAETEZ
THREEEE) 18R - WA SEEB 252
S REAK :

2018 2017

—E-N\EF —E—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

HKS BT 2,859 4,037
RMB AR 103 76
SGD 1003 T - 27
2,962 4,140
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Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance

28. OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE 28. i EHE&KIE
LEASE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT F& T

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RHREENMAITA
Current liabilities mEBE 90 87
Non-current liabilities EmEaE - 90
90 177
It is the Group’s policy to lease its plant and equipment AEBHRRRRBEREREHAEKE
under finance leases. The average lease term is 5 years. MEfE - FHHEBAARSF - BEHRER

ERNFRE T AFE326%(—ZF—+:

leases are fixed at 3.26% (2017: 3.26%) per annum. 3.26%) °
Present value
Minimum lease of minimum
payments lease payments
EEAENK EERENZZRE
2018 2017 2018 2017
“B-N\F —T-tF ZB-\f —TLF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TET THT
Amounts payable under a finance lease REME 7 ENFA
Within one year —ER 91 92 90 87
After one year but within two years —FRERRER - 91 - 90
91 183 90 177
Less: Future finance charges o RREBE R (1 ) N/ATER NANER
Present value of obligation under a BEMEREZRE
finance lease 90 177 90 177
Less: Amount due for settlement w128 A A E
with 12 months (shown BEZEE
under current liabilities) GIRNEEEEZT) (90) (87)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months ~ FM2(E B4 SIS R 2 &5 - 90

The Group’s obligation under a finance lease is secured
by the lessor’'s charge over the leased asset and

denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

REBEZRERERETIAHEALE
BEERT HCIEER - UBTTIINE -
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29. SECURED BANK BORROWING 29. BIRHIRITEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$000 HK$'000
FEx FH T
Secured bank borrowing EHRBBEITEE 6,689 6,964
Carrying amount repayable (based on FEEEEEE (ERER
scheduled repayment dates set out ek FT Sk AT 21 K
in the loan agreements): HE) :
Within one year —F A 307 300
After one year but within two years —FERBERMFEA 315 308
After two years but within five years MEZBRERAEFA 992 970
After five years hE% 5,075 5,386
6,689 6,964
Carrying amount of bank loans that WIRERSBME
are not repayable on demand or HIRE—FRNEE
within one year from the end of BEERERER
the reporting period but contain ERZIRITEREREE
a repayment on demand clause GIRREBEET)
(shown under current liabilities) 6,382 6,664
Carrying amount repayable on REXS—FRNEERERE
demand or within one year 307 300
6,689 6,964

During the year ended 31 March 2018, secured bank
borrowing bore average floating interest rates of 2.5%
per annum (2017: 2.5%).

Secured bank borrowing of the Group was secured by
the Group’s investment property (note 18).

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the
following undrawn borrowing facilities:

HE-_Z-N\F=A=+—HBItFE -
BEMRTEERFEZHFHE25%
FE(ZZT—+HF :25%) o

AEE 2 BERRITEERARE 2K
B E R (FFE18) ©

B SR - AR B A LA TR

2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$°000
THET TET
Floating rate 2 BN &
— expiring beyond one year — BB —FEW 4,500 6,000
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30. DEFERRED TAXATION 30. EERH B
The following are the major deferred tax liability NTAERFEMBEFERANEE
recognised and movements thereon during the current BEEFIHEAEBEREZS)
and prior years:
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated tax  on intangible
depreciation assets Total
EVEE
MEH YT E AFERAE aft
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT THT
At 1 April 2016 —E-FNA—H 225 = 225
Charged to profit or loss STABR - - -
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R-E—+&=A=+—-HEK
—T—+tFNmA—A 225 = 225
Charged to profit or 10ss FABER - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—HNB AR
(note 33) (Fff£33) = 3,092 3,092
At 31 March 2018 RZE-N\E=ZA=+—H 225 3,092 3,317

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$87,742,000
(2017: HK$56,588,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of approximately
HK$209,000 (2017: HK$193,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

RIREHAR - A% B 0] B A 85 R 2K
i H 2 7 Eh BB i I8 5 18 49 &87,742,000
BT (ZZ —+ 4 : 56,588,000/ 1) °
R 2R 21 04 K1) B DA BB - 3F B oK Eh A
RIEEEERECHIEEE - ILEFHE
1B A B[R HA A EE o

R & HIR - AN 5 B 49 F209,00078 7T
(ZZ—+4F : 193,000/ 7T ) AT 08 & B
ERR o R ERRTE A AT A DA 85 AT 40
MR EEAEE A - B E LA
HRERZHAERDELCHEEE
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SHARE CAPITAL

31.

Number of shares

LN

Share capital

RAHE T
2018 2017 2018 2017
“EB-N\F —T-tF ZE-NF T LF
1,000 1,000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR’ TR FHET THT
Issued and fully paid BITUHR
At beginning of the financial year REBEEL 363,000 330,000 154,851 76,113
Issue of new shares upon placing, REMR  NKFRS
net of transaction costs (note i) PR (F3E) - 33,000 - 78,738
At the end of financial year REBEER 363,000 363,000 154,851 154,851
Note: MIsE -

(i) On 14 June 2016, arrangements were made for a private
placement to independent investors of up to 33,000,000
ordinary shares at a placing price of HK$2.45 per placing
share (the “Placing”). Details of the Placing were set out
in an announcement of the Company dated 14 June 2016.
The net proceeds of the placing is intended to be used
as general working capital of the Group and/or other
potential business development opportunities as considered
appropriate, including but not limited to the application
of at least HK$30 million of the net proceeds for carrying
out the money lending business. These new shares were
issued under the general mandate granted to the directors
at an annual general meeting of the Company held on 17
September 2015.

All the ordinary shares issued during the year ended
31 March 2018 rank pari passu with the then existing
shares in all respects.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme enables the Company to grant
options to any Participant as incentives or rewards
for their contributions to the Group. The Company
conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 30 June 2014 whereby
the Board are authorised, at their absolute discretion
and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme,
to grant options to subscribe for the shares of the
Company to the Eligible Participant, The Share Option
Scheme will be valid and effective for a period of ten
years commencing from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme.

32.

(i) R-ZZE—AREXNATHEA - ERRTRE
ER2.45B L2 R EBRB IR EE T
ABEE33,000,0008% % @A% ([EL&EE1E])
EE 28 - ZEESHEZFBHRAR
AARAE-Z—R"ENATEAZAE
AefEMBSHREFERAELAEEZ
—EBEe R/ REMBRAEE 2B
EEBERES (BEATRNEBATE
FRIEF 58 1 0 1430,000,00058 7T A 1A FRE
X)) c REFRONBER-_ZT—RF
NWATEtBEROTZBRERAFAS LR T
Z— M REMEAT -

BE_ T \F=A=+—HILFER
BTHAA S BERREMEREFHR

NERRSES

B E

FEAERT SIE AR B A AE(2 B E R
B AR - (RIS AN EREPTERR
Z BB EHR - ARRRN =T —EX
A=+ BAE G RAERE 2 ([8B
BT E]) - Bt EFEGERER M
P2 BHBBRERE - KIREEE S
ZIEFAGERSAEREABARR
Betn 2 FE R - RE R At 8IS X L E R
MERRSTFHR—BEARREN -
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

As at 31 March 2018, the total number of shares (the
“Shares”) of the Company available for issue under
the Scheme is 30,000,000 Shares, representing 10% of
the issued Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit") of the
aggregate number of Shares in issue immediately upon
completion of the listing of the Shares in July 2014.

Upon acceptance of an option to subscribe for shares
granted pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the
“Option”), the Eligible Participant shall pay HK$1.00 to
the Company by way of consideration for the grant. The
Option will be offered for acceptance for a period of
21 days from the date on which the Option is granted.
The subscription price for the Shares subject to Options
will be a price determined by the Board and notified
to each participant and shall be the highest of: (i)
the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant
of the Options, which must be a day on which trading of
Shares take place on the Stock Exchange (the “Trading
Day"); and (i) the average closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the 5 Trading Days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the Options.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options,
provided that the total number of Shares which may
issue upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Share Option Scheme does not exceed the Scheme
Mandate Limit. The Company may at any time refresh
such limit, subject to the shareholders” approval and the
issue of a circular in compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under all the share
option schemes of the Company does not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issued at the time. An option may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, no
share option has been granted by the Company.

32. B ESE )

R-ZE—NF=A=+—H BEZ
PRI BT 2B H ((RA]) B8 A
30,000,0000% * A =ZF— W F+ A%
B EM KR 2B ETRMNABEE Z210%
(TrEIERRE]) -

R MR IR RE IR T 81 PR ] R B X
Bkt (TERE] R §ER2H
EFHARANRAN1.00ETT  (ERER
ERERE - BREZZMAP/SRD
EARES BEE21H M - BARE 2 iR
NRBERHEZTSET  YANEES
HE BRA/TIEEAZERE ()
RELBREES B (BEA/KRNDRER
PEEZBEF(XZA]))BIMAEAR
WERPE B THE + RN B
REBREEAMOEARZ ABIME
A mERE M FIHRTE -

AN AR TR BT RE U - MERIR
FERCRERT SIS TR 2 FT A BT
E&A TRIT 2 I AAB - TEEBIBR
IR AEIRFR o FARILAE RRBGEM £
AR RIBE R K& - AR A BE R SR
it EBR - HERIRIBAN R A 2 BRAE A M 5t
BB MAFITREZMARITREER
RETHERA TRITZBNER  TF
88 E B 2 TR 230% ° BB AR AE A]
Wt Bl NESSET 2 R AEE
BT ZHIR NGB LR EBREA
HIREET + 6 - AR IRFER IR AR
R e

B BB R BIERAAR - AR B &
BB ARE -
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATION
Acquisition of a subsidiary

On 7 September 2016, the Group, through a
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party
(the “Vendor”), pursuant to which the Group agreed
to acquire and the Vendor agreed to sell the entire
issued share capital in a company (the “Target”)
with licences to carry on Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(“SFO") at a consideration equivalent to a premium of
HK$16,500,000 over the net assets value of the Target
as at the completion date (limited to a maximum
consideration at HK$22,500,000). The acquisition was
completed on 21 September 2017 and the consideration
was determined to be approximately HK$20,230,000.

33.

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the
Target at completion date are disclosed as below:

%S0
U 5 — R Y 2
ARECGER—2ARE ZHERA)

ROE—RFNANALtRE-—BIE=)
(IE7 DRI —HEE G  RIEZH

Z O ASERBEWREREFRELE—
MiE AR EFEH L IEEM ([ 7% 5 & H
EiE61]) $1 - ARVERIRE X GHER
ZRE ([BERAR]) 2E2HEETR
o WEREBEHEERERATEETK
H 2z & &% B P Fom (816,500,0005% 7T
(Y BE & T = 7222,500,000/8 70) ° 3%
BHREEN-_ZE—+tFEhA-+—HBH=
B - W BE KB /5 4920,230,0007% 7T ©

BB A R B AR R A ER S A
ZAFEREDT :

HK$'000

TAIT

Intangible assets (note 20) E A& = (Mi5E20) 18,738
Prepayment FE{F 3R 1
Bank balances IR1THE5R 3,830
Accruals eI B A (101)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 30) FEIEFIB A & (FFFE30) (3,092)
Net assets acquired Frik g 2 BEFE 19,376
Goodwill (note 19) 2 (F1EE19) 854
Total consideration BRE 20,230

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the Target is

BRAKBERARZRENASEEY
MHEFEINAOT

as follows:
HK$'000
T
Cash consideration HeRE (20,230)
Bank balances acquired of BT U B8 2 SR 1T 45 8% 3,830
Net outflow of cash and BARENE QA
cash equivalents in respect of ZHeMRe
the acquisition of a subsidiary EEWRLFE (16,400)
Deposit paid in last year (note 35(a)) XFEMikS (Ki:E35@)) 4,125
Net cash outflow during the year AERNIBL R FE (12,275)
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33. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

34.

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Continued)

Included in the revenue and net loss for the period are
none and approximately HK$1,125,000 respectively
attributable by this newly acquired subsidiary for the
period between the date of acquisition and 31 March
2018.

Had this business combination been effected on 1 April
2017, the revenue of the Group would be approximately
HK$450,000 and net loss for the year of the Group
would be approximately HK$2,192,000. The pro forma
information is for illustrative purpose only.

ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH
ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 24 October 2017, the Group, through a
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to acquire the
entire issued share capital in a company (“Target”) with
a cross-boundary vehicle license at a consideration of
HK$1,886,000. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the acquisition of the Target is in substance
an acquisition of assets instead of an acquisition of
business as the only principal asset included in the
Target is the cross-boundary vehicle license.

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of the

3. X¥KE 6
WiE— R E AR (&)
HKENBEARRKEBRE-—Z
—N\FE=A=+—H 8zt AHRKA
JEZE‘%TE C DRI AW A K 491,125,000
=5

HEEFEHR —_T—tFMOA—H%
X - NSRBI A S ) 23450,0008 7T K A
SEFEEEKANR2,192,0008 7T © Lt
BEERHEHFARE

34. 35 1B KBS — P 28 =0 B
& B
AEBE(GER—2ERBZHMBRAR) R
—E—+tE A THAE-—BYE=
FEI-EBEERE  REZBE K
& B[R 2 LA (E1,886,000/% 7T U i —
RETEEHERZ AR (TBREARA])
ZEHEBETRG - ARAAEZTARK
BZEABRRAREBER FR—EEEWEM
FEXEBUWE ARG AZBEERRNE
EEERTEERER -

ZBREARZA BN EERABRTENK

Target at completion date are disclosed as below: BZAFEKEOT
HK$'000
FET
Intangible assets (note 20) A& E (FffeE20) 1,876
Cash B 10
Net assets acquired Friiig v EEFE 1,886
Total consideration BRE 1,886
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash FHEWNEZEEARIZR e RIREEE
equivalents in respect of the acquisition of the HK YImEFREOA R
Target is as follows:
HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration ReNRE (1,886)
Cash balances acquired of FT b8 2 38 & 45 85 10
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in EREWE—FHNBAR 2R
respect of the acquisition of a subsidiary e RBEEEYRLFE (1,876)
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

5. FEBRERERME

(a) Non-cash transaction (a) ¥R£ER
On 21 September 2017, the Group has completed RZE—tFENA=Z+—HBAEXE
the acquisition of a company with licence to carry T — R B RESF K
out the Type 1, 4 and 9 regulated activities under B 0% BT S EE1,4R9E R
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The Group R - AEBREFEMNEEA
had paid a deposit of HK$4,125,000 in last year 4,125,0007%8 7T - I 7 58 A U B B
and setting off against the consideration upon the RERT R E R -
completion of the acquisition.
(b) Net debt reconciliation (b) BEEEE
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and AEnFHINEE-_ZE—N\NE=A
the movements in net debt for the year ended 31 = t+—BIEEMEIER TS
March 2018 presented. (ST R A E DM o
2018
—E-)N\F
HK$'000
FAT
Cash and cash equivalents HeEMRESEEY 41,277
Pledged bank deposits B IR1TF 3K 300
Obligation under a finance lease Rl ETEE A E (90)
Secured bank borrowing BEBRITEE (6,689)
Net cash IR & F 34,798
Others assets Liabilities from financing activities
HpEE HEEHEL BB
Cash and Pledged Obligation Secured
cash bank under a bank
equivalents deposits ~ finance lease borrowing Total
ek BEA HEHE EEA
REZEN RITFH R RiTEE @z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T AL AL AL AL
Net cash as at 1 April 2017 RZE—tENA-BHELFE 60,027 300 (177) (6,964) 53,186
Cash flows Reig (18,383) - 87 275 (18,521)
Foreign exchange adjustments HNERE 133 - - - 133
Net cash as at 31 March 2018 RZE-\EZR=1-RH%L
FE 1,277 300 (90) (6,689) 34,798
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36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 36. XEHEKIE

The Group as lessee AEBEREBEA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT

Minimum lease payments paid under FRAKLHEN R
operating leases during the year FBE :

Premises EZE 1,751 3,518

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due

RS AR - A B G RIR R A]
HEH A TE Bt 00 i A X N & KT
BN BHBERET

as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\HF —E—+F
HK$000 HK$'000
FTHET TAT
Within one year —F R 2,526 3,061
In the second to fifth years inclusive EFE_Z=ZFRF
(BEEMFBREEN) 512 2,142
3,038 5,203

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by
the Group for certain of its office properties. Leases are
negotiated and rentals are fixed for an average of three
years in both years.

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$624,000 (2017:. HK$637,000). The
property held for rental purposes is expected to
generate rental yields of 2.50% (2017: 2.83%) on an
ongoing basis. The property held has committed tenants
for the next two years.

REMEFBARAEEREETRFE
MEMNES - RMEFER - HLO19E
=FHmn  MESE=F8FHEE

on

AEBAEHAA

REE Y WA BT84 5624,000
BT (=T —+%F : 637,000/ 7T) ° #H1E
o A8 R ik /O W 3£ T8 HA I B R R S AR
R2.50% (=T —t4F : 2.83%) HJKF »
BB ZYERRKMED A B EAMH
}\ °
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OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future
minimum lease payments:

36. REHERIE 2

AEBHHBAE)
RBEHR - ARECEABEABAT
ARFREBESNRETLEL

2017 2016
—E—4tE —ZE—RNF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FETT
Within one year —F R 500 343
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEEFRF
(BEEMEBREEA) 18 14
518 357
RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS 37. BIRE R E+ 2
Defined contribution plans REMAREE

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “"MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 per
month, to the MPF Scheme, in which the contribution is
matched by employees.

Under the laws of Singapore, certain subsidiaries of
the Company make contributions to the state pension
scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF"). The
subsidiary of the Company in Singapore are required to
contribute certain percentages varies from 5% to 20% of
the monthly salaries of their current employees to the
CPF for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

Subsidiaries operating in the PRC are required to
participate in contribution retirement schemes
organised by the relevant local government authorities
since incorporation.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of approximately
HK$376,000 (2017: HK$340,000) represents contributions
payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the current accounting period.

AEBRRETEREREBEE —HEHE
AEEEE (MRERE]) - ZAEE
ERAKEEENRART  REEX
ABRHINEES - AEERARHTENK
AR25%RBEEEENK &= EA
1,50087C * BB KIER S B IEH ARG

=5
N

IRIEFT B LR - AR AE THEAR
MEREARESTEPFRREE ([FRA
B DIEHER -HE-_ZT—N\FEK—
E—+=A=+—HItFERN  AAF
OB AT BREESREEDN
B #HES%E20% 2 W& T & 75t m AR
NESIEHMEK -

e ERE Y B 2 7B A A
S8 05 B BT B 2 5 4R
it -

st A & B 49376,0008 T (ZF — &
£ : 340,000/ 7T ) B AR R AN 2 AN 55 B 2
EREFEHZENEMNRIE -
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38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with related parties:

(a)

(b)

License to use a property granted to a
related company

The Company licensed a right to use an office
property at nil consideration under a license
agreement with a related company of which
a director, Mr. Liu Rongsheng has significant
influence. Pursuant to the terms of agreement,
the related company shall bear the cost incurred
for using the office property and both parties can
terminate the license by immediate notice.

Compensation of key management

personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel
of the Company during the year was as follows:

3B.HAELRS
AEER - ARBRPWESETT O

Ry

(@)

(b)

A-XEREQXTARUERY
R2farE
RIE—REMEBEQR (EFRE
EREBHERTE) A2
AHERE - AR RIRBEA ARG
BEFR-ERLEVE - REZ
B RR - BB A REARERZ
MEMELXZER - Mal WA
VA BDBRF 38 R4 \E A5 R HE o

TEEEAENME

EEEAARARRTEEEAEN
&

2018 2017

—E-N\E T —tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 4 - 284 & E 48 T 8,531 5,835
Contributions to retirement BRI FI S22

benefits scheme 107 100

8,638 5,935

The remuneration of directors of the Company and
key executives is determined by the remuneration
committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

ARAEBEZEREBTHAEME
THRFMNEZEE2EREAREAR

MEBEERE -
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39. AR BN KREHR

39. INFORMATION ABOUT THE

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2018 2017
—E-N\E T+
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FRx FEIT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment B &% 574 1,726
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR 2% E 21,455 21,454
22,029 23,180

Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H e W FRIB 1,517 1,007
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE Wt /B X Bl 3R a 107,429 95,294
Bank balances and cash IRITEHRNIIRE 1,518 27,153
110,464 123,454
Current liabilities REBEE

Other payables H h fE {4 5008 1,265 723
Amount due to a subsidiary AN E=NGIE O] a 466 466
1,731 1,189
Net current assets FREEE 108,733 122,265
Total assets less current liabilites  #AZERREBEE 130,762 145,445

Capital and reserves BEARKEE
Share capital % 31 154,851 154,851
Reserves s (24,089) (9,406)
Total equity R mE b 130,762 145,445

The financial statement of the Company were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 25
June 2018 and signed on its behalf by:

Chan Chi Yuen

Director
EZE

RRARZHBRREN_-Z—N\FA

—tTHAKNIEERKRE

o R AR

Liu Rongsheng
B4
Director
EF

BREN
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39. INFORMATION ABOUT THE 39. BB MRREKER )
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note a: ffiata -
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on ZRIEAEEIR . RERIRERESE
demand.
Note b: Ht 5D -
Share  Accumulated Other
capital losses  Reserve Total
S B  HittREfE # 5t
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THT T T T
(Note)
(B35
At 1 April 2016 RZE—REMNA—H 76,113 (19,523) 21,063 77,653
Loss for the year and total comprehensive ~ AEEBRANEE2EH S
expenses for the year - (10,946) - (10,946)
Issue of new shares BOHBRM 80,850 - - 80,850
Transaction costs attributable to issue of BIIRDEER FHA
shares 2,112) - - 2,112)
At 31 March 2017 and RZZE—+%F
1 April 2017 =A=t-HK
ZE—t45WNA—H 154,851 (30,469) 21,063 145,445
Loss for the year and total comprehensive  AEEBIBMASE
expenses for the year EXERYER - (14,683) - (14,683)
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-N\5F
=A=t—-H 154,851 (45,152) 21,063 130,762
Note: Other reserve represents the difference between the i aE - HibfERiE - B R - ARERB AR
nominal value of the shares issued for acquisition of a MBETHROOEEEEZME QAR
subsidiary and the consolidated net asset value of that HEHfBARMNEHEEFEMNERE -

subsidiary and its subsidiaries at the date of acquisition.
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CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments as at
the end of reporting period:

40.

BEXERE
AR S AR AR DA T B AR ¢

2018 2017
—E-N\F —FT—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBx FH T
Contracted but not provided for BB E—ELABEF]
acquisition of a company KEREME - 12,375

CONTINGENT LIABILITY

On 9 December 2015, a supplier has filed a statement
of claim of approximately HK$1,000,000 against a
subsidiary of the Group. As at date of the report, no
proceeding has been occurred. Based on the legal
advice, the directors of the Company are of the opinion
that the Group has meritorious defenses against the
supplier. Therefore, no provision for this claim has been
made in the consolidation financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2018 and 2017 are as follows:

41.

42.

HREE
R-Z-—RAF+-_ANB —RHED
HAEE-HNBRARSEL—MHERR
1,000,000/ TR /B E - WilE B HA
WARELEMMGFR - RBERER - K
RAEERRACBECHHERIELS
Hinst e At IARAREBE T —\F
ZRA=+ L FEZGEEMBHRERTH
B R AE AR A

e NG
ARRZEBMBRRAR=-Z—N\FR
—EtEE=ZA=+-RAFBEMT

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/ ~ Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
BITUMR
RYFER/  FE & /it
WEAREH Benk /B3 RHES A RAARENFERRRERLA IZEH
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2018 217 2018 217
“E-N\F ZE3-t%F ZE-N\f ZET-tF
% % % %
China Sourcing & Creative BYI Ordinary United State 100 100 - - Sourcing furniture and
Construction Limited dolar 1 marble and the provision
of interior design and
decoration service
HENETRRENARDE AERABE B E3 100 100 - - REGRREAGNRERES
AEEVESTT
Hotel Sourcing International Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design
and decoration services
Hotel Sourcing International Limited ~ &7 3 1007 - - 100 100 REZAZHREHRS
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42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 42. T EMBE A T (&)
Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/ ~ Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
BIUMR
RYFER/ K & /it
HEARZH Ben¥/BX  RHEN A RRABENFERRRERL A IEEE
Directly Indirectly
E# 3

2018 2017 2018 017
“E-N\F ZTLF CR-NE AR

% % % %
Karlson C & C Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design
and decoration services
Karlson C & C Limited iy 3t 187 - = 100 100 REZAFEREHRE
Wealth Trinity Development Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design
and decoration services
ERERARDA ) ta Vo - - 100 100 REZRRHREHRE
Well Creation Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design
and decoration services
#EEBERAT B 3 187 - - 100 100 RESAZHRENRS
Joy Excel Consultants Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 100 Provision of interior design
and decoration services
EHBRERAT B ga 187 - = 100 100 REZARREHRSR
Forever Smart (China) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - - 100 100 Provision of interior design
and decoration services
Kbt (RE) BRAR A L@ 18T - - 100 100 REFAHRTRESHRS
Hotel Sourcing Singapore Pte. Ltd.  Singapore Ordinary SGD1 - = 100 100 Sourcing furniture and
marbles and provision
of interior design and
decoration services
Hotel Sourcing Singapore Pte. Ltd. % R TH T - - 100 100 REGEREAGHNRREE
MRt REHRE
Kate China Property Consultants Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Property investment
Limited
hEEENERRERAA &h L@ T - - 100 100 MR
Huarong Financial Holdings BVI Ordinary US$100 100 100 - - Investment holding
Limited
ZHEBRRARAT AERABE L@ 10057 100 100 - - REER
Markway Finance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - = 100 100 Money lending
ERARARDE ) L 1008 7T - - 100 100 HE
Wealthy Pool International Holdings BV Ordinary 15$50,000 100 100 - - Investment holding

Limited
REBRERERA EBRaBE L@ 50,0005 7 100 100 - - RERR
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42. BB A7 (&)

42. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place/Country Paid up
of incorporation issued/
or registration/ ~ Class of registered Proportion of ownership and voting
Name of subsidiary operations shares held capital power interest held by the Company Principal activities
BUMR
RYAER/  FE &/t
WEARER BEn¥/BX  RHER A AAARENFARRRERLA IZEY
Directly Indirectly
E# B
2018 217 2018 2017
“E-N\F ZE3-t%F ZE-N\f ZEZ-tF
% % % %
Huge Wealth Interational Trading ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - = 100 - Business not yet
Limited (Note 1) commenced
FEAREABRAT (M) Bk R 10,0007 - - 100 - RERER
Oenoluxe Wines Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Trading of fine wine
REEERAT &b R 187 - = 100 00 FEEES
World Huge International Investment BV Ordinary Us$100 100 = - - Investment Holdings
Limited
tEERREERAR AERAEE I8 100% 7 100 - - - RE#K
0C Consultants Limited (Note 2) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,500,000 - = 100 - Securities business
0C Consultants Limited (¥f3£2) Bk il 10,500,000} ¢ - - 100 - E5EH
Royal Century Investment Group Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100 100 - - Investment holdings
Limited
CEREEBERAT Bk L 1T 100 100 - - RE#ER
Royal Century Development Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 - Sourcing furiture and
(note 3) marbles and provision
of interior design and
decoration services
CERRER QM) B 3 187 - = 100 - FEREREARARRESEE
AEENEST
Royal Century Engineering Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - = 100 - Provision of interior design
(note 3) and decoration services
CETRERAR (HH3) B B3 187 - = 100 - REZRRREHRS
Notes: B 5

1. The acquisition of the subsidiary was completed on 24
October 2017 (note 34).

2. The acquisition of the subsidiary was completed on 21
September 2017 (note 33).

3. Those subsidiaries are newly incorporated during the year
ended 31 March 2018.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

1. KEBZHWBEAAAR_-_ZT—tF+A
—+ A e (FiF5E34) ©

2. WBZMBARAR-ZE—tFhA-+—
B 5EAK (PFiIFES3) e

3. ZEMBARANREBE—_ZT-—N\F=A
=t+—BIEFEHEMKIL -

EER5 ERMINARRIHE AR
IBFEAFREEZEUBNAEEEE
FEZ T EZEM) - EFRARIH E A
BRARZHBRSREBARITE -

I

)

f ) B
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M E
For the year ended 31 March
HE=A=1t-HLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-0\f -t ZZ-R"f ZT-hf ZT-QHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TET THT THET T
Revenue Y zs 33,097 54,524 101,048 142,556 95,887
(Loss)/profit before tax BEA (&B) S 5H (27,989) (35,022) (7,919) 7,815 11,948
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BRB) /&5l (28,093) (35,034) 9,370) 5,451 9,645
Total comprehensive FEE2E(RX) /WA
(expenses)/income for the year (27,804) (35,156) (9,325) 5,023 9,799
As at 31 March
R=RA=t+-H
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-N\§ ZZ—+t§ ZE-5RF ZE-HFf ZTIf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT T T THT THL
Assets and Liabilities EERER
Total assets BEE 124,165 150,850 142,340 167,165 49,160
Total liabilities BERE (13,381) (12,262) (47,334) (62,834) (25,965)
Total equity EReE 110,784 138,588 95,006 104,331 23195
Note: MfEE -

The summary of the consolidated results of the Group for the years ended
31 March 2014, and of the assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2014 have

been extracted from the Prospectus.

AEERBE_Z—NF=A=+—HIFEZFA
FEMZ URR-_Z-MF=-A=+—HZEER
BE - DEEE EHERE -
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